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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

During the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”), the
Group recorded gross proceeds from disposal of securities
of approximately HK$177.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately 6.8 times, as compared to the amount of
approximately HK$22.7 million for the last year. The Group
recorded in revenue of approximately HK$3.6 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 19.8% as compared to the amount
of approximately HK$4.5 million for the last year. The Company
recorded loss attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year amounted to approximately HK$41.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$7.0 million). The audited consolidated
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$196.6 million (2022: approximately HK$209.7
million). The net asset per share of the Group was amounted
to approximately HK$0.48 (2022: approximately HK$0.65). The
decrease in net asset value per share of the Company over
the year was principally resulted from the net effect of: (i) the
placing of 65,000,000 new shares of the Company at a price of
HK$0.26 each (see the Company’s announcements dated 19
August 2022 and 5 September 2022 for further details); (ii) the
net loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the
Year of approximately HK$41.2 million; (iii) non-cash share-based
payments of approximately HK$4.5 million recognised for the Year
and (iv) proceeds from exercise of share options of approximately
HK$7.1 million.

The Group’s net loss increased from approximately HK$7.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$41.2
million for the Year. Such change is mainly attributable to the
change in performance of the Group’s listed investments and the
expected credit loss assessment. The Group recorded net loss on
listed investments of approximately HK$0.1 million in the last year,
while net loss on listed investments of approximately HK$30.7
million was recorded in the Year. In relation to the expected credit
loss assessment, reversal of impairment losses of approximately
HK$8.7 million was recorded by the Group in the last year
whereas the Group recorded impairment loss of approximately
HK$1.2 million during the Year. Taking into account of unrealised
loss on unlisted investments of approximately HK$2.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$8.7 million), administrative expenses
of approximately HK$9.9 million (2022: approximately HK$10.7
million) and other expenses, the Group recorded net loss of
approximately HK$41.2 million in the Year (2022: approximately
HK$7.0 million).
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FEDZEEVRAFRE-

EEEBNWR DN

B EE
BHE-_Z_=4=ZA=1+—A8LFE(XFE]) "
REEEBHEES B HRBLEIEL177,700,00055
T B 25 F #922,700,0007% 7T 12 )1 496.81F o AN & B 8%
15 Ui % #93,600,000/% 7T + & & 4F 494,500,0007% 7T &
L HI19.8% c RAFE ZK"ﬂﬁ’EN‘ﬂ%ﬁAﬁ
165 5 18 £941,200,0007% 7T ( =& = = £ : 497,000,000
BIL) AEER-_TE-_ZF-A=Z+HHKEEX
e BEFE? 7/7%_’7196,600,000/&73(—5:: |
209,700,000/87T) - A BB R EEFEL £0.488
TT(ZEZZF:#0.65/870) cRAFE N‘ﬂﬂﬁ
BEFEBRLEERATIESENFEZE: () AR
LA 1%0.26/% 7T 2 {& & BE £565,000,000/% #1 A% (“ﬁ
BME—SHB B2RAARBHA-ZTE-_-F\A
FTHAEBR-ZZ-—FHLARBZAM) : () AARK
B (R R 2R 518 441,200,000 7T ¢ (ifi) ANFEE
RIEIR S UMD B EGR 2 15 50 494,500,0007% 7T X (iv)
R B 1715 BB AR /Y BT 13 5XIE 497,100,000 7T

ANEBFEERBE T -_—_F=ZA=+—HLLEFE
E’]%@7,000,000/%7‘Eigj]u:t$£ﬁ&_5}]“\/]41,200,000/%
LB ETERARAEE EMIEERR RBHE
BEEBRFE2E E)J AEBRE—EAFEHEBSLETE
B FEE#9100,00008 7T 0 A AR F E G EHIRETF
/& 8 4930,700,000/8 L - S TEHIE E B BT EH M 5 -
AN E R £ — B E 815 R (E §5 18 B 1= 498,700,000
;‘pjz i 7% & Bl P 7K 6 2 8115 R {8 JE5 18 491,200,000/%

o5t R IE LT IRE K B E 18 492,400,000 7T (=
2::@ #78,700,000% 7T ) * 17 B 7 X 499,900,000
BT (ZZF = 4 :4910,700,000 70) R H %
REBER $¢ﬁﬁzﬁi¥féﬂé%@41,200,0005%%-57‘1(:i
— — 4 :497,000,000/5 7T ) °



2022/23 Annual Report

F
= £
EEEHRES
Investment Review KREERE
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s major investments were as RZZEZ=F=RA=+—RH0 AEEZFEREWNT:
follows:
Investments Description
RE Bt
Listed equities HK$132.5 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 50 companies
EmRA 50/ A Rz £ k) 44 132,500,0007% 7T
Direct investment in unlisted equities HK$6.6 million in 2 direct investments in unlisted equities securities
RIELETRAZBERE 21B3F E TR AN E 5 2 B 42 56,600,0008 7T
Debt Investments HK$27.9 million in bonds issued by 2 listed companies
BBRE 28] £ T A R 397 2 {5 427,900,000/ 7T
Total HK$167.0 million
A&t 167,000,000 7T
The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2023 of the Group mainly RZEZ=F=A=+—H A5EEEHAFTEH
comprises of unlisted securities, listed securities and bonds BEAERPEIFELTHES LTBHFREHFREHAK -
investment in Hong Kong and China. The value of investment AEBZIREHAEELAE167,000,0008 7T BEEM
portfolio of the Group is of approximately HK$167.0 million. T REMBCEFEEEBETVERARZ T RERE
As a whole, the portfolio was carefully managed and being REBBYERRENEME —TEMEREZHE
fully diversified to minimise commercial risk resulting from over [ B o

concentration of the investment of the Group in any single industry.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with fair value over 5% of value of its

total assets are considered as significant investments. In respect

of the Group’s significant investments as at 31 March 2023, set out

below are certain information on those investments:

Percentage of fair

Fair value/ value of significant

Carrying value
of significant
investments as at

Significant Investments 31 March 2023

RZBZZ%
ZA=t+-H
BEAREZ
AVE/REE
HKS$’ million
BEET

EXRE

Equity investment in WLS
Holdings Limited 35.3
NEREREBRAAIZRARE

Equity investment in Power
Financial Group Limited 19.1
REREREEARARZRARE

Bonds investment in Hao Wen
Holdings Limited 17.2
RENERBBR AR CEFRE

(A) Listed Equity Investments

investments to the
Company'’s total
assets as at

31 March 2023
R-ZZZ=%
=A=1+-8
EXRER
ATELN
ARFBEE
A=Y g

17.3%

9.3%

8.4%

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS’, stock code: 8021)

WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding and
fitting out services, and other services for construction and
buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage
and margin financing and securities investment business and
assets management business. The audited consolidated loss
attributable to shareholders of WLS for the year ended 30
April 2022 was approximately HK$10.8 million.

As stated in WLS interim report 2022/2023, WLS foresees
that the outbreak of COVID-19 together with the challenges
posed by the political unrest in Hong Kong mean a double
blow to the Hong Kong economy and further contribute to a
downward trend in the Hong Kong property market.

EXRE
ARFEHEEEEBEBB % 2ASEREWRA/E
ABRE-RAEBMR _T_=F=-A=+—HZEK
REMS ZEREZETEREIWT:

Unrealised
gain/(loss)
recognised during
the year ended

31 March 2023

Realised
gain/(loss)
recognised during
the year ended

31 March 2023

Bond coupons
received during
the year ended
31 March 2023

REZE REZE REZE

—E-=& —E-=&§ —EC-=&
ZA=+-H ZA=1+-H =ZA=+-H
LEERAZ LFEERRAZ EFEEREZ
CERRE (FR) xERKE/ (FB) BHER
HK$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million
BEET BEET BEHT

- 8.9 N/A i

- 1.8 N/A i

- - 1.7

(A) LFRFARE
JEEFERR B IR 22 7] ([ERE ] - R 17 L5 - 8021)
EETZRERUEMEEEREERE ARE
MEEREFIRRYE MEER FHELR
RECHERBFREEBREEERES R
HE_Z-_—_FMNA=1THLEFE ERZKRE
JE(R 8 B iz 4r A 518 49 510,800,000 7T ©

WMER T - =T = F R ERERTM
2019 RS REBMN LB BBCEB BT RD
hEHBERBLETRESITE WE—HER
BEMET SN NHKBE -



The impacts of COVID-19 have caused pressure worldwide
and dampened the development of various industries, with no
exception for the scaffolding industry. In the past decade, the
scaffolding industry has become increasingly competitive. On
the one hand, the costs have become high together with rising
labour costs, but productivity has suffered decline. In the
face of a phenomenon of ageing workers, young generation
unwilling to join the industry due to hard labour work and
higher requirement of technological qualifications, which has
affected recruitment of talents in the industry, and with heavier
government regulations, without favourable factors such as
labour imports, the carrying capacity of the industry may be
challenged. These reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect
of the scaffolding industry.

On the other hand, in response to demand from market
development, many contractors have adopted the use of
metal scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds nowadays. The
general higher durability of metal scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time
for training of workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be
eliminated in Hong Kong in the future. According to recent
trend, modern metal scaffolds have been adopted by the
industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are
aware of exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction
of the scaffolding business will be led by the adoption of
mixed scaffolds and metal scaffolds.

Looking ahead to 2022/2023, in view of present economic
uncertainty and difficulties, WLS is reviewing its existing
assets structure and business strategies and may make
adjustment to our existing assets structure, with the aim to
consolidate our resources, so as to be flexibly prepared for
uncertainties in the future. Meanwhile, in order to enhance
our competitiveness, WLS will look for opportunities to
revitalise the scaffolding business to keep up with the recent
development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, WLS will
continue focusing on those business segments that generate
higher profit margins and show ample growth potential such
as money lending operations. WLS will strictly adhere to its
cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business strategies of
its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market
dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for
shareholders.

Annual Report
2022/23 $p o

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
BEEEHREE

2019 MmBEMNTE HERSMEKE
BRIRITEER BEMESRTO ERETF
EWERFURB A — T E ATRATE L
RRARBS BEENAM N E -AHBEHTA
HRERIERS FE-RAFBREMERS
MERAIT FETEATHRE WMERFR
HURBEZ RZBANBEENRER  17HEK
HENBEREIER RMROUEMEMNSERE

RZAF 0

S—hE FAETSERTRL BASFLZAEZR
ERBEBMARETME 2 BMEABEMA
e EAAEAEN BRIKRS TER
e R AT 2R A F A A BE AR BN A o R IR
B RONSBWREKREANKAZY
LHEHEIENIENSREES A RRWEE
EEBRADBENEEMAREEWRSETE -

BE-_T_-_—/—T-_—FE BERBEHLET
AR EREARNEREELEREY
RE WA RBEEABETRAEUNZER
PIHER HMEEEYRROSTETHBREE -
N BRABRF N EEKS RS EIRME
BEER BT ENEAMMBMTES
FREBZ A ERBEEZINSTEER
AREERERENNEE B MIEEEK - E
P2 %% RIS 38 ST B AR 4% Il SR - N R IR AR R A 28 4R
HEBHEBRE UEHZEIEANTISEE
AREERE LY HER -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Finally, WLS will actively explore all suitable investment
opportunities to diversify the business horizons and will work
hard to strengthen overall business development. WLS’s
business strategy is in line with the general direction of the
government’s overall strategic development plans for property
construction, infrastructure investment and financial market
development.

The management of the Company shares the same viewpoints
of WLS and believes its business in construction and
infrastructure sectors are in line with the development plan
of Hong Kong Government. Unrealised gain of approximately
HK$8.9 million has been recorded in the Group’s equity
investment in WLS during the Year. Return on investment in
WLS is expected to be generated in coming years, but the
Group will still continue to monitor the performance of WLS
and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in WLS, if

necessary.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”, stock
code: 397)

Power Financial is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset management and investment and money
lending. For the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of
Power Financial was approximately HK$171.3 million.

As stated in Power Financial’s 2022 annual report, it was
stated that benefiting from the full removal of immigration
controls with Mainland China and further relaxation of social
distancing measures, Hong Kong is expected to turnaround to
economic growth in 2023.

The recent global market conditions, including the U.S.
Federal Reserve’s interest rate hike, the collapse of US
and Swiss banks, global economic slowdown, the European
Central Bank’s policy shift, geopolitical tensions, and rising
commodity prices, could have significant implications for
the financial industry in Hong Kong. It is expected that
market volatility will continue to persist amid the rising global
inflationary pressures.

KR EESEREBERR VEENREKS
EEERNEBHEEZ T SHHEPEBHOER
BR-OEENEBRBENTARNEDERR.

BERENEMMSERTAEBBRBERR{ID
BEBIEE I

ARRERERERBEMERES RAENE
EREMBETENEBHEETARNNEER
Blo-RAFE AEENERNRERE S BSE
oK B35 I 25 498,900,000 7T © 1 B 18 & FER K
BIHBAENAREFELE BASEBEER
FEEMERR YRV EREAEALEREE
P2 A 55 B o

B eaERERL A ([#HA2F] R H -
397)

EREeRFIZXHLAEHRE EEETERKE
UWEmE R8-S -_—_F+-_A=+—H1
MR BEReRIBRREEELERGSER
#9/4171,300,0007% 7T °

IR SR E = R L
£ B 5 2 EOK A E R — S
Rt ZEREE FEEER TS ERE
A

MMERMETE (BREXBHEMNE KB K
TERITEIR  2EREBENE  BUNRITERE &
MWEBURBRRBBARKFTERER LK) HA
REUNBELMEELEAFE B EDRER
BHEFAWNBERT M5 REBIDERE-



Meanwhile, financial tensions between China and the US
continue to deepen as both countries close their doors to
Chinese firms’ US listings. This ultimately may be good
news from a local perspective as more mainland companies
consider switching their listings to Hong Kong, bringing
more capital into the city. In addition to the special purpose
acquisition company (“SPAC”) listing regime announced in
2022, Stock Exchange also announced a new channel for both
commercial and pre-profit specialist technology companies
to list in Hong Kong. This type of enhanced listing regime is
expected to attract more high-growth, innovative mainland
and Southeast Asian companies to list in Hong Kong.

In an effort to optimise this market momentum, Power
Financial will continue to source additional revenues and
broaden the customer base for its margin financing business
through the broad social networks of the Group’s experienced
staff and new hires in order to build more in-depth as well as
new business relationships, which will bring sustainable and
steady growth to the segment.

As for its money lending business, Power Financial will
continue to expand into corporate and individual loans
through E Cash and E Finance. Under today’s challenging
and unpredictable economic environment, Power Financial
expects to face lending risks which may affect loan demands
from borrowers. Power Financial will continue to carefully
evaluate its risk management strategies and ensure a proper
balance between risks and returns and over the long run.
To help ensure a sound loan portfolio, Power Financial
will continue to adopt prudent and cautious approaches
throughout the credit assessment and approval processes.
It also keep a close eye on the repayment performance of
its loan portfolio while evaluating the repayment ability of
borrowers. Power Financial will continue to cautiously monitor
the general business environment and market conditions while
also seeking potential investment and business opportunities
for further development of its various business segments,
expanding the business scope and creating a new dynamic

for revenue growth.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
BEEREE

(B)

While the impact of COVID-19 and its variants still lingers
worldwide, Power Financial will continue to fulfill its financial
intermediary role and respond to client needs for funding
support while proactively adjusting financial management
strategies toward a forward-looking perspective in order to
maximise value for its shareholders.

The management of the Company believes Power Financial
will be able to spur its revenue growth and create more value.
Unrealised gain of approximately HK$1.8 million has been
recorded in the Group’s equity investment in Power Financial
during the Year. Return on investment in Power Financial is
expected to be generated in coming years, but the Group will
still continue to monitor the performance of Power Financial
and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in Power
Financial, if necessary.

Unlisted Debt Investments

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (‘Hao Wen”)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group subscribed
unlisted bonds (the “HW Bonds”) issued by Hao Wen with
principal of HK$20,000,000 with a coupon rate of 5.5%. The
HW Bonds will be matured in 60 months from the issuing date
(i.e. 15 June 2022).

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the money lending business and processing and
trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8019). The audited net assets and
current assets of Hao Wen were approximately RMB295.1
million and RMB238.1 million respectively and its total
liabilities were approximately RMB65.6 million as at 31
December 2022. The Company considers that Hao Wen has
sufficient financial resources to meets its ongoing operation,
and there is no signal of default of the HW Bonds.

(B)

BECOVID1ORAZEKN TR ELHEEN
MBEFT B cRGEEBTESRPN
AR ZEEFPHESIIOEZ R BEREAATE
MOAEEGAECMEEHRE NERRRA
EHRAEE

AR RVE T B AR (S A S R RE SRR A SR
RURIEELZEBEE - RAFE AKERERE
B H B 1 B R R 1S R B3R I 25 491,800,00008
TLoBERERER S B A O T8 HI A5 20 R 2R B
FES BEAKEREERIERSRORI
WA BB R S BN S BT B R B B O SRS o

HLHTEBFRE

EXFERBERA A ([#EX))
REE-Z-=ZF=ZB=+—RALFE A%£E
REBIEEITRELTES ([BXEH])  Ae
#320,000,0007% 7T - R E 7| % &5.5% ° iF X &%
BREasTER (-2 -—FXA+HER)E
ZT601E A A EIHf -

EXARBEHESFMA L AR AGE X
FEMBRAAIFEZNEREEBLARMNIEE
BETEHHF ERERZATGEM £ (IR % R 5K
8019) RZTFEZZF+_A=+—H #X
WEEZEEFERRDEESAADARE
295,100,000 & A R #5238,100,0007T A R E &
BERRE A AR ¥65,600,0007T & A 7 R A& i
NAEREUBERBRERSBLE BXESH
WEBHHS -
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Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed investments of approximately HK$30.7 million
for the Year represented net realised gain on disposal of listed
securities of approximately HK$1.8 million and net unrealised loss
of listed securities of approximately HK$32.6 million and dividend
received of approximately HK$0.1 million. Set out below are further
information of these net realised gain and unrealised loss:

Net Realised Gain on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised gain on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$1.8 million represented the realised gain of
approximately HK$6.6 million net of realised loss of approximately
HK$4.8 million.

The realised gain of approximately HK$6.6 million principally
represented:

Company name

DNREH

Goldstone Capital Group Limited
TARAEREBEBR AT

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited
EREREEZERAR DA

In addition to the above 2 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought realised gain over HK$1.0 million to the Group during the
Year.

The realised loss of approximately HK$4.8 million principally
represented:

Company name

REEHE

Kingston Financial Group Limited (Note 2)
eMEERMEBERDAF (Hit2)

China 33 Media Group Limited
FE==EHEEERAA

In addition to the above 2 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought realised loss over HK$1.0 million to the Group during the
Year.

AEF L HEFZZE

RNEE EHREFBIEL30,700,0008 TiEHE £
BE B EIR WS FEEH1,800,0008 T ETHES
2 K3 518 0¥ 58 932,600,000 T & B WAL B4
100,000 - B FE S BE W= FERREREE
WEZERHI T :

HE FTESRZ BZB Y FE

HE FMES 2B RN FEE41,800,0008 L5
B8 U 25 496,600,0007% JT 1 B £ 37 &5 18 494,800,000
I e

B2 & 38 U %5 476,600,000 7T = 248 -

Stock code Realised gain
IR 43R 5% e#RlE
HK$ million

BEET

1160 3.8
8153 1.1

B Eai2&E R T HN A I A H A AR B A AR S E A 2R
28438 5 #8348 1,000,00078 7t

EL # 38 518 494,800,000/5 7T F 45 -

Stock code Realised loss
i 87k EE#EER
HKS$ million

g & &

1031 1.7
8087 1.2

B L2 REIN AFEELEEMKRERAEE K
243 B 1R 381,000,0008 7T ©
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Net Unrealised Loss of Listed Securities

The net unrealised loss of approximately HK$32.6 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$17.3 million
net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$49.9 million.

The unrealised gain of approximately HK$17.3 million principally
represented:

Company name

NREH

WLS Holdings Limited
ERERABR AT

Asia Grocery Distribution Limited
TMEERRAR

SEEC Media Group Limited
MAEREEEBR AR

Power Financial Group Limited
ERTHERBR AR

Kingston Financial Group Limited (Note 2)
THETREBERDR (Ht2)

In addition to the above 5 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised gain over HK$1.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

LIRS R R
2R 5 38 548 7% %8 4932,600,0007 7T #5 K B 3 W 28 49
17,300,0007% 7T #1 B oK & IR /&5 18 £949,900,0007% T °

5 8 3 Uk 2 #717,300,00058 7T & 4 -

Stock code Unrealised gain
R 13 R 5% REF W&
HK$ million

A&

8021 8.9
8413 2.0
205 1.8
397 1.8
1031 1.8

PR EisE R RSN AFEWMEAMBRR BA K BEH R
KRB H Yz 881,000,000 7T
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EEERESE
The unrealised loss of approximately HK$49.9 million principally 7R 3R 18 4949,900,00078 T E 245 -
represented:
Company name Stock code Unrealised loss
ARER v REBEEE
HK$ million
B &EET
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited 802 5.7
PREEBZNEEEGR AT
AMCO United Holding Limited 630 3.9
ERERBRAA
Tai Kam Holdings Limited 8321 3.7
FHRERBR A A
Goldstone Capital Group Limited 1160 3.7
SAEAREEEBRAA
Wealth Glory Holdings Limited 8269 3.4
EEEZERKRARRAA
Luxxu Group Limited 1327 3.1
BREBEBRAA
China National Culture Group Limited 745 3.0
PRIBEREEESEEBR AR
China Environmental Energy Investment Limited 986 2.8
FEIRREERIRE AR A A
Kingland Group Holdings Limited 1751 2.2
SHEBEZERER QA
In addition to above 9 stocks, there was no other stocks which B EoEREIN AFEWEEMBESAEEEE
brought unrealised loss over HK$2.0 million to the Group during KB IE B 18 32,000,000 T ©
the Year.
Notes: et -
(1) The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance of the (1) AEBEBLWMHBFERBPETAHOE IR RKRMDEB
Group's Listed Securities were listed on either Main Board or GEM of R AT ERSKGEM L e
the Stock Exchange.
(2) The shares of Kingston Financial Group Limited (‘KFG Shares”) were (2) £NELLMEBERAARG ([2FMERD]IR=F
privatised and the listing of KFG Shares on the Stock Exchange was Z=H-AZt++tHRLALLERBERMETH ST

withdrawn with effect from 27 February 2023. LR HERE-
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Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group’s disposed of its equity stake in Peak Zone Group
Limited at a consideration of HK$6.5 million during the Year, and
no realised gain/loss was recorded. In addition, unrealised loss on
other unlisted investments of the Group of approximately HK$2.4
million was recorded during the Year.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Debt Investments
During the year, the bonds issued by Hao Wen and subscribed
by the Group in Year 2019 were redeemed and the principal of
HK$15 million and coupons of approximately HK$1.7 million were
received. During the same year, the Group subscribed new Hao
Wen bonds with principal of HK$20 million (“New Bonds”). No
coupons from the New Bonds was received by the Group during
the Year. In addition, coupons of approximately HK$1.4 million
were received by the Group from its investment in the bonds
issued by China Media 33 Group Limited (stock code: 8087) during
the Year.

Segmental Information

There is no material change in the Group’s investment segment,
principally investment in listed and unlisted securities, during the
Year.

Price Risk

The Group is exposed to financial assets price risks as investments
held by the Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position as equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss as at 31 March 2023. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in the above financial assets, the Group diversifies
its portfolio. If the prices of the equity investments held for trading
were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2023, the Group’s loss
for the Year would decrease or increase by approximately HK$5.5
million respectively, and if the prices of equity investments held
for trading were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would increase
or decrease by approximately HK$6.2 million respectively. If the
value of the investments held by the Group as equity investments
with non-trading in nature were higher or lower by 5% as at 31
March 2023 (2022: 5%), the Group’s equity as at 31 March 2023
would increase or decrease by approximately HK$0.3 million (2022:
HK$0.8 million) respectively.

AEEMFLTERSFZRE
MARFE - AN B B E6,500,00008 7T i & E 7 Peak
Zone Group Limited B iR # - AW RSB BH M=
BRI AEBARFEHSHEMIFELTIREN R
IR 518 5 #92,400,0007%8 T ©

AEEFLETEBRENEKR

RAEE AEER TN FERBOHEETH
&% 0 W fE B 3 2 BS54 415,000,000 70 M Z 8.4
1,700,0007% 7T - A F - A &% @ R ¥ & £ 420,000,000
BRI XES ([FMESH]) RAFE AEET
EWRMESFZB -V AEEARFARERES
B==EFEEEBERQA (RHMNI:8087)FITHE
%R U EY 491,400,0008 TR E & »

“%ﬁﬂ
RAFE AEERENHB(ETERELTRIFLD
EF)WEEANEH -

EERRE

AEFEHNKEEERRR REARKZZZ=F
SA=Zt+ A AREBEIREERE W BHRNE
FOEAENATFEFABERZBRARE - BERHE
BELMBMBEEMEELEZEBRER NEESHHE
BEEE - MBEEERARENERNR T =_=F
A=+ —BLEFARTH% WAEERFE 2R
# 2 Bl 2> sk 3 495,500,000 T - 1 4 15 1E B B &
AEEMNEER B __F=A=+—BLAXTR
5% A AEBMREBEE-_E-__F=A=1+—HILFE
2 v & 9 B 1 A0 skE 4> 496,200,000 T o fii B AR &
EHEEIUERABEEZREBENR S Z=F=
B=Z+—BLEAXTH% (Z T = =F:5%)  BIK
SER-ZZEZ=F=ZA=+—BHZREEHDRE MK
2 #7300,000% 7T ( = = — 4 : 800,000/ 7T ) °
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Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty especially after the outbreak of
COVID-19. Both developed and developing economies are facing
challenge of economic turmoil. China was also facing a slowdown
in economic growth, but its situation seems not as poor as that of
the West. The inflation in China is much less than that in the West.
When the world is facing such great uncertainty, the Directors
consider, crisis and opportunities coexist in the coming year.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities, listed securities and fixed income products with high
potential in order to diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had margin payables to financial
institutions of approximately HK$5.0 million (2022: approximately
HK$12.6 million). The Group had bank balances and cash on hand
of approximately HK$27.6 million (2022: approximately HK$10.8
million), which was mainly placed in bank and other financial
institutions as deposits. As the Group held listed securities of
approximately HK$132.5 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$148.3 million), which is around 26.5 times
(2022: approximately 11.8 times) of the margin payable value, the
Board consider the Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as
at 31 March 2023.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 2.6% (2022: 6.0%), which was considered a very low
leverage level by the Board.

Al &
BHMEHERTESEERREAIBETHERT
HEM LEZCOVID-19EEE -FERBERDKH
BOmBRKESHEONE - RK P EROHES K
BRE BEAUFEFRAET - TENBER K
KEENAT BHREABOLERNTEEER &
ERR RFERBERBATN—Fo

BEES—WNE FEEEASEZREES MEHIE
BRERB - ENPEEE2REENZEBRIE N K
SEDRIEYRNTELE #ECAKEKER
EUERXNEARBEASREREHREECORNEKE
s

ARRIEERRENETEARBERBNZIFLTES
EHESREERSER BFE—TDHMBEAR-

I’ E
EESFRTEBIRN KBRS -

REBESRMBEER

RZEZ=ZFZA=Z+—A ALEENSREER
%4 #945,000,000% 7T ( —F — — 4 : 412,600,000
BIT) o REE 2 RITHE#R R FEEER € 49 /327,600,000
B (ZF = =% :410,800,0008 L) - £ E ARTT
LREMEMEETR - R-_Z-_=F=A=+—H8 &K
EEHEA ETES#132,500,0008 T (T - —
#1148,300,000/ 70 ) - BENRESHL26.5F (ZF
ZZFHNMSE) AUHEEERANR_ZE=F=
A=+—AAQRMNTRHES KRR DEBRE-

EESEBLE

EEABLEER(EEATEABRE HBER)B26%
(ZEZZF:6.0%) E=CRLZBERBREERE
K o
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Capital Structure

The consolidated net asset value per share of the Company as
at 31 March 2023 was HK$0.48 (2022: audited HK$0.65). The
consolidated net asset value per share is calculated based on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023 of approximately
HK$196.6 million (2022: approximately HK$209.7 million) and
the total number of 412,596,600 shares ordinary shares of the
Company at par value of HK$0.001 each (2022: 325,096,600
ordinary shares of the Company at par value of HK$0.001 each) in
issue as at that date. The change of the number of issued shares
of the Company is resulted from the placing of 65,000,000 shares
on 5 September 2022 and 22,500,000 share options exercised
during the Year.

The Board has been actively seeking fund raising opportunities
to strengthen the Company’s financial position. On 5 September
2022, the Company completed a placing and has successfully
raised approximately HK$16.9 million (before expenses), which are
detailed below.

On 19 August 2022 (after trading hours), the Company and China
Prospect Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best endeavour basis, to not
less than six independent placees for up to 65,000,000 new shares
at a price (the “Placing Price”) of HK$0.26 per placing share
(the “Placing”). These new shares rank pari passu in all respect
with the then existing Shares. The Placing was completed on 5
September 2022.

The Placing Price of HK$0.26 per placing share represents: (i) a
discount of approximately 13.3% to the closing price of HK$0.300
per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 19 August 2022, being the date of the Placing Agreement;
and (ii) a discount of approximately 15.6% to the average of the
closing prices of HK$0.308 per share of the Company as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the date of the Placing Agreement.

ERER

RZEZ=F=ZA=Z+—HA ARAERGEEETF
BHAE048BTL (T - —F:0658T (KEX) ) -
BRGEEEFENREAEENR _ZE=-=F=1
=+ —H®MEEFEH#196,600,0008 (=T ==
F 1 49209,700,0008 T) R R Z AR AR B REE
0.0017# T #) B 817 & M AR 48 21412,596,6000% (==
— =% :325,096,6000% A A 5] & J% H {80.001% T 1
TBER)FESE -ARRCETROBBEESH AR
RZZEZ %7, A 7 HE 565,000,000/ % 5 & 7 &
2 17 1822,500,00017 B8 A% ## A 8k o

EFeHEBRSKELARSAMBARR TR
RZEZ—FHLARBR ARAIEHR—BEEWLKI
£%£4916,900,000/8 T (FIkR AT - BT -

RZZEZZFNATNB(RGEER) AR HEFR
BEREFHFARAR ([RERED T VESHE ([E
EwmEl) B EEREBEREESEHEEUGRAE
ER10.267 T ER ([EREE]) AT PRANZEE L
B A PR & £ %65,000,0008% 5 A% 0 ([EEE=1H]) ©
ZEMBROERME A ARERBEERGZBRSHAL-
ReEEEER _E-_—"FALARARK-

BREERMN0.26B T2 MEBE : () ANAAKRHG RN
ZEZZFNATAA (BIREHE B ) R AT
AU B FAR0.30078 T HT:E 4913.3% : R (i) A A &
BOMEERREHZEBHANRERLEEER S B R
22 PATFT ¥ 0 S 29 U (B AR 0.3088 ST HT iE £4915.6% ©
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The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are securities trading
and investment holding. The Board considered that the Placing
represented a good opportunity for the Company to raise additional
funds and to widen the Company’s shareholder base, and the
terms of the Placing Agreement are on normal commercial terms.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the terms of the Placing
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Placing were approximately
HK$16.9 million and the aggregate net proceeds of the Placing,
after deduction of expenses, were approximately HK$16.5 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.252 per
placing share. The net proceeds from the Placing were intended to
be used for the general working capital of the Group and for future
investments pursuant to the investment objectives of the Company.
As of 31 March 2023, the full amount of approximately HK$16.5
million were used for working capital and listed investments as
intended.

Save as the Placing above, the Group did not have run any capital
exercise during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had retained
eleven employees (2022: eleven employees). Total staff costs
of the Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year
under review amounted to approximately HK$4.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$4.6 million). Staff remuneration packages were
in line with the prevailing market practice and were determined
on the basis of the performance and experience of individual
employee.

ARBIZIBEBRREEZER EMNBARZTIER
BREFBEERKREER -BEEERR KEFER
ARREEFNESURBEAARBRRER 2 R
BREHHEZGRIDIE - REEERFT LAtk &
ERREEFRZKARBATEE AFERARAR
HERZERBN G-

EEFENMSRIBABELRFE (MKRAXE) D&
# % 4916,900,0007% 7T & 4916,500,0007% 7T, #H & 7
FETEBENATREERD0.2528 T AL & BB T
BREFERAELAEE —REEAS RBRBEARF
BERERAEAREBE - BE T -_ZF=A=+—
H 416,500,000 T2 HERR TR AELEESR
eRETERE-

B EEBIN AEBRANFE AL EETER
PRAE S

MNELR BMELARARSELECEANER
HESER
RBE_T-_=ZF=-A=+-HLFE ARQFALE
EERMBAT BEARNKAELEZERKER
HEERE-

==

REBE-_T-_ZF-A=-+—HLLFE AEEZE
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Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged listed securities of
approximately HK$18.2 million (2022: approximately HK$31.5
million) to secure the margin payables of approximately HK$5.0
million (2022: approximately HK$12.6 million). The Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report
approved, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises from
its investments in companies located in the People’s Republic
of China, which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group closely
monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use suitable
hedging instruments against significant foreign currency exposures,
where necessary. No foreign currency hedge contract was entered
into by the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2023, the Group
had no outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2022: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

EEBRHERAAREE
MRZE-_=F=A=+—HB AEEEEFLHE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 59, was appointed as
an executive Director on 8 March 2011. Mr. Chan is one of the
representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
and a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). Mr. Chan obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of the University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities,
fund management, corporate management, corporate finance and
managing listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China
Innovation Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), China
Investment Development Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC
Limited (stock code: 2324), China New Economy Fund Limited
(stock code: 80), National Investments Fund Limited (stock code:
1227) and Goldstone Investment Group Limited (stock code: 901),
and a non-executive director of China Trends Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8171). All these companies are listed on either the
main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek, aged 78, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has over 20 years’
solid experience in senior management positions in various
industries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
EAIl Securities Limited. During the period from November 2016
to September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of Thoth
Investment Management Limited. During the periods from July
2014 to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November
2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset
Management (Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management
Limited respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and
responsible officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period
of 2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity
portfolios. Mr. Luk was currently an independent non-executive
director of each of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 640), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and
Link Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8237).

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, aged 38, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is currently the
assistant to the general manager of a China based investment
company. She has over 5 years solid investment and management
experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with over 10 years of professional
practice experience. He possess solid finance and accounting
knowledge. Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive
director of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
turnover and results were mainly derived from the interest income
and dividend income from investment holding. The directors
consider that these activities constitute one and the only business
segment since these transactions are subject to common risks
and returns. The management monitors the operating results of
its business for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s operation is investment holding, it is not considered
meaningful to provide a business segment analysis of operating
losses. Details of the segment information are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 85 to 89 and page
158. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2021: HK$Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless
otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution passed at
general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 29 August 2013. As at 31 March 2023, the
remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately 5 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s TERZINARBRAFEERN ZBERES S -
share options during the year:
Number
Number Number  of options ~ Number of
Number of  of options of options cancelled/ options held
options held granted exercised lapsed as at
Exercise asat  duringthe  during the  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price  Option Period 1 April 2022 Year Year Year 2023
RZB=Z% RZBZ=%
mA-A ERi#,/ ZA=T-H
g ERRitiz  FRTEZ k¥ g
85l REBH RE BRERE BhERE BREHE BREYE BRERE BREXE
Directors
=
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - (2,250,000) - -
REZHLE “Z-25/\AtH 031637 HAHRH=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
“Z--%\At+-H 042187 HHAHRH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
ZTZZFNA+ZH 03178  KnBBEH=F
Mr. FONG On Shek 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - (2,250,000) - -
FRAKE —ZZZ5/\AtH 03168 HMBHEF=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
“Z--%\At+-H 042187  HHAHRH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
ZTZZFNA+ZH 03178  HKnBHEH=F
Employees 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 18,000,000 - (18,000,000) - -
ks “Z-25/\AtH 031637 HAHRH=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 20,300,000 - - - 20,300,000
“Z--%\At+-H 042187 HHAHRH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant - 26,000,000 - - 26,000,000
ZTZZFNA+ZH 03178  HKnBHEH=F
Total
At 49,300,000 32,500,000  (22,500,000) - 59,300,000

Details of the 32,500,000 share options granted during the Year:

Grant date: 12 August 2022
Exercise period: 3 years commencing from 12 August 2022
Exercise price: HK$0.317

Fair value: approximately HK$4,481,000
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The fair value of options which were calculated by binomial option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Share price as at grant date: HK$0.270
Nature of the options: Call
Risk-free rate: 2.644%
Expected life of the options: 3 years
Expected volatility: 106.837%
Expected dividend yield: 0%
Exercise multiple: 2.2-2.8

22,500,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme were
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2023. The weighted
average closing price of the Company’s shares, immediately before
the dates on which the aforesaid 22,500,000 share options were
exercised, was HK$0.38.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 88 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out
of the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution comprise the share premium, accumulated profits
and valuation reserve derived from the available-for-sale financial
assets. In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2023
were approximately HK$191,950,000.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WU Qi
Mr. FONG On Shek

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other

than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin shall retire
by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” in this directors’ report
and 2,250,000 shares of the Company held by each of Mr. CHAN
Cheong Yee and Mr. FONG On Shek, as at 31 March 2023, none
of the directors and the chief executives of the Company had or
were deemed to have any Disclosable Interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO)), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for securities
transactions by Directors of listed companies contained in the
Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had not been notified of any person (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March
2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” on pages 4 to 19.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the
Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-corruption
practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty, integrity
and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by all
employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.

We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.

Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 23 to 26 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 160.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board
comprises a total of six Directors, with one executive Director,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2023. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2023, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board convened
a total of eight meetings. Included in one meeting was a session
held among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2023 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.
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Attendance
Name of Directors EENR HERE
Executive Director HTESE
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee REE LS 8/8
Non-executive Directors ETES
Mr. WU Qi RELAE 8/8
Mr. FONG On Shek HRALE 8/8
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFBTES
Mr. LUK Simon PR 254 8/8
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2UBEH 2+ 8/8
Mr. HON Leung Bt 8/8

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
31 March 2023. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgments.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2017. He reports to the executive Director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2023.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON
Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the committee held
one meetings to discuss remuneration related matters. The number
of meetings attended by each committee member during the year
ended 31 March 2023 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin REE T
Mr. LUK Simon PER 25t 4
Mr. HON Leung Bkt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and chief executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2023. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, is the
chairman of the nomination committee. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the committee held one meeting to discuss
nomination related matters. The number of meetings attended by
each committee member during the year ended 31 March 2023
is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates the
maximum number of meetings in the period in which the individual
was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2T E L+
Mr. HON Leung Bkt
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 A

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;
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The nomination committee may consult any source it
considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm
and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;
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vi.

vii.

viii.

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the

recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Vi.

vii.

viii.
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DIVERSITY

To improve the performance of the Company, the Board has
adopted policies on board diversity. The Board believes that board
diversity can be achieved by taking into account various factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
term of services and other talents. All the appointments have been
made based on the Company’s business models and specific
needs from time to time, and candidates have been assessed with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board on objective
business conditions. The nomination committee will be mainly
responsible for identifying suitable and competent candidates for
Board members and assessing such candidates in light of objective
conditions. As a part of the annual performance review for the
efficiency of the Board, considerations of the nomination committee
will be balanced between skills and experience as required for
accomplishing the business targets of the Company and diversity
factors. To achieve board diversity, the nomination committee will
discuss and develop measurable objectives from time to time, and
propose the same to the Board for adoption and implementation.
Generally speaking, the selection of candidates by the nomination
committee shall be based on a range of diverse perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
term of services. However, the final decision will depend on the
strengths of the candidates and their prospective contributions
to the Board. The Board may improve one or more diversified
perspectives from time to time, and measure the progress on such
basis. The nomination committee will review the policy from time to
time, including conducting assessments on the effectiveness of the
policy. The nomination committee will also discuss any amendment
that may be necessary, and submit amendment proposals to the

Board for approval.

Please refer to the disclosure in page 65 of this annual report
for the gender ratio of the Company’s employees as at 31 March
2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung oA
Mr. LUK Simon FER 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl &+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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GENERAL MEETING(S)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the aforesaid general meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2023 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meeting in the period
in which the individual was a Director.

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee BREZTE
Mr. WU Qi RELSE

Mr. FONG On Shek FEA%E
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 A

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung Bkt
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

B BB B =
HE-ZZ-_=F=ZA=+—-HILFE IEZHMHE
TEEEAMESMERARAAREREZ RS &
EN/ERZEBEERHRINMT

HK$
T
Elite Partners CPA Limited FLlEEesMmEKMERAR
— Audit services — B IR 480,000
— non-assurance services —EEZRE -
480,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE EEYUKBRR2ERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 79 to 84.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing

its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 30 June 2023 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general
meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is well aware of the importance of maintaining
proper contact with shareholders and strives to enhance its
communication with them. Shareholders can visit the website of
the Company (www.chnif.com.hk) for the latest information of the
Group, including interim and annual reports, announcements,
circulars and corporate governance related policies. Press releases
are also posted on the website of the Company in a timely manner.

General meetings serve as a communication channel between the
Board and shareholders. The Group regards such a meeting as
an important activity of the Company during the year. All Directors
and senior management would attend the meeting as much as
they can. The chairman of the annual general meeting proposes
separate resolutions for each of the independent matters. Members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, external auditors, independent financial
advisers and external lawyers would also attend the general
meeting to answer questions from shareholders as appropriate.
During the year, the Company held one annual general meeting.
Details of each Director’s attendance at the general meetings are
set out on page 43 of this Annual Report.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the company secretarial department
whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretarial Department,

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
Room 1104, Crawford House

70 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company” or
“‘we”, stock code: 1226) is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”) and it is a Hong Kong-
based investment holding company principally engaged in the
securities trading businesses. As the Company established and
principally provides services in Hong Kong, the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are fully committed to
environmental protection, social responsibility and the strictest
corporate governance.

While promoting sound business growth, the Group is also
committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that
maintains high quality standards in our service and operations.
The Group considers social and environmental responsibilities as
one of the core values in business operations to strive for greater
sustainability and transparency, as well as to deliver services that
foster a sustainable environment for the future generation.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2022-2023
(thereafter the “Report”) covers the Group’s initiatives on the
concepts of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
and the implementation of the relevant concepts in the normal
operations. The Report also provides an overview to the Group’s
direction in managing ESG-related issues, driving initiatives
throughout the operation, and communicating the Group’s ESG
performance results with stakeholders. The information contained
herein has been sourced from official documents and statistics of
the Group and was consolidated and compiled with the information
on control, management and operations as provided by a number
of departments of the Group.

In pursuant to the requirement of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) stated
in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
of the SEHK (the “Main Board Listing Rules”), the Group has
prepared the Report. The Report focuses on the Group’'s ESG
performance driven by the main business in Hong Kong during the
Reporting Year from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Year”). The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has prudently
evaluated the development prospects of the existing business.
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Reporting Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
according to Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, including materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality

The content of the Report is based on stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, gathering and reviewing views from internal management
and various stakeholders, assessing the relevance and materiality
of the issues, and compiling and verifying the reported information.
The Report has covered a comprehensive range of key ESG
issues that are concerned by the stakeholders.

Quantitative

The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) established must be
quantified so as to allow the evaluation of the effectiveness of
the ESG policies. Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools, and source of conversion
factors used for the reporting of emissions and energy consumption
are mainly referred to the ESG Reporting Guide.

Balance

The information provided is unbiased. The Report provides
a holistic description of the performance of the Group on
achievements, rooms for improvement and challenges in ESG. The
report should avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency

A consistent quantification methodology is adopted in this Report
to allow for meaningful data comparisons being made over time. If
there are any future changes in methodology, it shall be indicated
in the Report.

This Report is prepared in both Chinese and English. Both
versions have already been uploaded to the website of SEHK at
www.hkexnews.hk and Company’s website at www.chnif.com.hk.
The Group will continuously publish its ESG performance on a
regular basis each year, which can be accessed by all parties at
any time, to enhance the transparency of information disclosure in
the future reports.
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BOARD STATEMENT OF ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting, including evaluating and determining ESG-related risks
and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The Board is also
responsible for formulating ESG targets, aiming at aligning with
the global vision of carbon neutrality and enhancing corporate
reputation.

The Board delegated the Director of the Group, Mr. Fong On Shek,
to monitor and manage the ESG-related issues. Besides, the Group
has established the ESG Working Group (the “Taskforce”), which
is led and managed by the Director, to ensure the alignment of the
ESG governance with the Group’s strategic growth. The Taskforce
is comprised of members of the Board and core members of the
different departments. The Taskforce is responsible for executing
the Group’s ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,
giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing
ESG-related matters.

With the assistance of the Taskforce, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group’s ESG performance, risks and
opportunities. The members of the Taskforce have meetings to
discuss the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures
and seek opportunities to improve the Group’s ESG performance.
The Taskforce reports its findings to the Board where appropriate
so that the Board can look for solutions to manage the Group’s
ESG risks and opportunities.

In order to better govern the material ESG issues of the Group
and the Group’s performance in these aspects, the Group has
set environmental targets in different aspects. The Taskforce will
continue to strive towards achieving these targets. The Taskforce
will review the progress of these targets and take measures to
achieve them and report on the progress and make suggestions if
needed to the Board at least annually. Rectification may be needed
if the progress falls short of expectations.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The ESG Reporting Guide of the SEHK states four reporting
principles, which include materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency, as the foundation in preparation of the Report. As
emphasized by the SEHK, the participation of stakeholders is an
evaluation method of materiality. By means of communicating with
stakeholders, enterprises could understand the general opinion
and identify important environmental and social issues.

The Group believes that identifying and addressing stakeholder
views lay a solid foundation to the long-term growth and success
of the Group. In order to prepare this report, the Group has
engaged an independent professional party to conduct a materiality
assessment by distributing questionnaire and incorporating the
advice of professional consultants to clarify important reporting
issues, which serve as the determination basis for the direction of
the Group’s sustainable development.

The communication channels between the Group and its major
stakeholders are as follow:

Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders

FHESH
EEBMIAE GRE-HE@RhERHRSES) PRA
MIEERRA BEEZM 2 FHR %M F

RREABENER - FWEBMIMABH HHE
SEERAUFNGEEZUNTE - BRRFHENER
CEREATHREZNER BNEZNRENLEE
o

AEEMEE #NTNEAEFNDENEELR/AKRENE
HERMADETRENER BREARE A%
BoZABULEEALTAERETANPALETEES
MG AEEEXEANBERANEFAERNER
A AERARERREERTMNETEER -

AEEEREBHHEOEDE
B2 B O 40 T -

BREIEZHOERIT

Communication Channels

REB D E SIE D E BERE

Directors SEHK Meetings

5F BB S P =

Management Shareholders and Investors Interviews

EEE BRRRIKREE g#%

Administrative Personnel Banks Direct Mails

THRAE 1T 'R

General Staff Business Partners Staff Performance Appraisal Interviews

—RET EBRLHE BIRBAZEH
Local Community Group Internal Publications
=ik e mEBF

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
BREBFERG ([RRBFAE])
Extraordinary General Meeting
MR AFRI RS

Hotlines
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The principal stakeholders are the shareholders and investors of
the Group. They can discuss directly with the Group’s directors
during the general meetings and send emails to the Directors
to raise their concerns. For internal communication channels,
employees can raise their opinions and viewpoints to the Directors
for further improvement.

The operations of the Group have significant impacts on various
stakeholders, while stakeholders have different expectations of the
Group. Looking forward, the Group will continuously strengthen
its communications with its stakeholders, and extensively collect
stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would lead to a more
comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group would
also enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative,
balance and consistency, and the presentation of content and
information of the report are defined in a way which better
conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum of
environmental and social aspects. In order to harness the related
risks and opportunities, it is important for the Group to determine
the most material aspects. The Group conducted the internal
materiality assessment annually to ensure sustainability topics are
being managed and reported in accordance with their materiality
level.

TERNDER/RANKENBRREREEZ - HWEFARER
AELEREAEEERLET WM TMEFHRXE
FHEAREESEHEINEE -RAMLBBRENS
EBEARE-—FPREMAESIREE R NBEH -

AEENEBHIRABNEELERTE MKH
BAEBTTATAHPE-RERK AEEKEE
MREF N ENBR BB TRAPAEREZHKER
MENER SEBUOMEXH RS AEETE
RABLE FER-—BUENERRIY REFAFHMN
FHENTN AEBRSHARTRERZT-

BEMFME

RHEERRETRENLETENERIE /T
EEAMNEBRIES EEREENEAHAEE
EREZ-ALESFRIABESHIM ARR
RELEBWAFHATREEEBETERNRE -
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To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the RTBEMERR HEREARFTEMEZEE -FKM
views of senior management from respective operational regions SERTEEzEREAREEENER SREREE
were sought. The senior management, who possess a high-level HMBXTRMEESERNEE LERKMMAREFN
view of all the topics, were asked to score the relevance of each ENAEENSEAAETHEERE HEgMELER
ESG topic to stakeholder groups and the Group in each of their MAEBHETTES TR ETEFRABEEMOE

perspective. The topics listed in the table below were identified as BREERREH-

the most relevant to our business and operations.

Aspects
i=hr]

A. Environmental Aspect
A REEME
A2. Use of Resources

A2. BRFH

B. Social Aspect
B. #8EM

B1. Employment
B1. &%

B2. Health and Safety
B2. @EHELZ®

B3. Development and Training
B3. # & M IEF

B4. Labour Standards
B4. 4 T %8|

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. R&ES

Material ESG Issues
EARE HEREREH

*  Energy consumption and efficiency
« BERUERERE

+ Employee welfare

- EERN

* Inclusion and equal opportunities
+ Talent attraction and retention

« MBI RBBEAT

*  Occupational health and safety
- BERELZE

*  Workplace safety

« IESMERE

» Development and training
« BRREY

*  Prevention of child and forced labour
. BIEEIMBEHIST

»  Corporate governance
- BEEA

*  Anti-corruption

- RES
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to operating business activities in a
clean and sustainable manner. Our business typically engages
in investment in listed securities in Hong Kong and in unlisted
companies. As the Group does not engage in any complicated
operations, the environmental impacts are limited to our office
facilities, the management of waste and resource conservation.
The Group strives to curb emissions and waste, as well as
conserve energy and water resources.

EMISSIONS

The Group’s emissions include air emissions, greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions, discharge of domestic wastewater and solid
wastes. The Group strictly adheres to environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
‘PRC”), including but not limited to the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 311, the law of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354, the law of Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 358, the law of Hong Kong) and Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400, the law of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Year, the
Group was not in violation of any relevant laws and regulations,
which have a significant impact on the Group, related to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Emissions

The Group examined the issue of air emission across the
operation. As mentioned, the Group is principally engaged in
financial related services and activities, and with no company-
owned cars that will emit exhaust gas, therefore, there is no
significant impact in this aspect. The Group thus concluded that
no material impact on air emission can be found through direct
emission from the operation. Indirect carbon emission through
electricity consumption is measured and details shall be provided
in later sections. The Group will continue monitoring operation
activities and further information shall be disclosed as changes

occur.

REEME

AEBEFNABERRAFEERTALEXKED -
BREEXBREBRLMESRIFELTARNKRE -
HRARBETEEEMEMRNER R HRENY
SERNRERMANOBAZTRIE BEYEENERSHL -
RS B 55 70 4 I HR RN R FR W) EE AR 3 B 49 BE R AT UK

23,87

AEBEMHREBEREBER RERE (AZRE])
e RS KBE R B R - AR B BB ET
BERPEARKANE (THE])RTEARRRG
BEETER (P EARAMBERERESL) (PFE
ARKMBARRIZR QL)  (ERFRE HEH)
(BRZEDEINE) (BUREGKD) (BEBEISE
354F) - CKIFRE B GG (FEED FEI58E)
(RZESED) (FEEDFE4008) - RIBEFE
AEEVTEERERELAEREHN KR L
BRARELEREREEERMEBAHARERE

FENTMERER IR -

kot £

7R 5 B AR L 2 B B AR o A ZE SRR DR R o 40 B TP
M AREFEXGReRARRE LSS TEE
EHRERNARBRTE BT AL BEERTE -
A AEENEmT EXRNEENERRAEH
MMBARREREATZE - BN HANEERIERE
EHE HFBERTXRHR - AEEBEEERHEEE
) WEREREBREE - PRE -
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group does not generate direct air pollutants through its
operation. The Group is mitigating its indirect greenhouse gas
emission and is actively measuring its carbon footprint. The
greenhouse gas emissions of the Group are mainly generated from
indirect emission (Scope 2) from the consumption of electricity,
and other indirect emission (Scope 3) from paper waste disposal.
As the Group did not own any vehicles during the Reporting Year,
there were no direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1).

Purchased electricity of the Hong Kong office is the major source
of carbon emissions. The Group will investigate and work with
the employees and external stakeholders to enhance overall
performance and minimize future carbon footprint. Since the
Group is an investment holding company and the greenhouse gas
emissions are insignificant, no reduction target for greenhouse gas
emissions has been developed. However, the Group still targets to
maintain the greenhouse gas emission by the next Reporting Year.
The carbon emission for the Group during the Reporting Year can
be found as the followings:

Greenhouse gas emissions 2023
BERBHK —2=-=
Scope 2 emissions 0.15
& E 28

Scope 3 emissions 0.05
& [E 35k

Total greenhouse gas emissions 0.20
AERBHRAE

Intensity (by revenue)’ 0.06

BE (zmd o)

! The intensity calculation is based on the annual revenue of the
Group. The revenues of the Group for the Reporting Years 2021,
2022 and 2023 were approximately HK$4,521,000, HK$4,478,000 and
HK$3,592,000.

BERBHMH
AEERLEBRTPYBELERRBIRY KK
EREROEMBREREHN BEREHEREY -
AEERREREHNEIEREEIERNBEZER
(#E2) KR A REMAEEN MR ZEPEN ($ES) - A
RAEERNREFELEEMIE REABEERRE
RS (HBE1) -

EERARENIINBEENREIZOMBARE  ~EH
BIEE—FPHRE WRES RINEFEHEE T A E
MRS ERBERRERERDERKBRET - AR A%
ERn—BREZERAR HEEREHRLTEXN
BYEHERDBERBHEROBE R - AT AKHE
MEREET BEFENAFBEERBHNE X
SEAERSFEELNRIERAOT

2022 2021 Unit
—E-C —E-—F B
1.22 1.22 tonnes CO,-e
W SEMbiRE S
0.12 0.07  tonnes CO,-e
WA —SMLHREE
1.34 1.29 tonnes CO,-e
WS iE S
0.30 0.29 kg CO,-e/thousand HKD

DTSR EREE/TET

1 DEEAEBMFERSFE -AEEAR T —FRE
FE ZTFREFER-TS=FREFENK
=9 B 49 /54,521,000 7T -~ 4,478,000/% 7T £.3,592,000
oIy
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Waste Management

The Group has set up a Waste Management System as the guiding
principle for waste reduction at source. As a socially responsible
corporation, we are cautious in limiting and managing our daily
operation waste. Wastes are separated into two categories for
better management purpose, including general wastes (domestic

wastes) and recyclable wastes.

Waste reduction measures throughout the operations focus on
recycling paper, and the appropriate use of recycled paper in
workplace. Other waste reduction actions are:

. Reuse pen shafts with refills instead of simply throwing away
the whole ballpoint pens;

. Dispose rechargeable batteries only in designated collection
boxes;

. Recycle toner cartridges; and

. Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such
as waste paper, letter and envelope (excluding confidential
documents).

To reduce paper wastage, senior management has implemented
the following additional measures to encourage a paper-less
working environment:

. Adopt an electronic system for filling and documentation;

. Promote electronic communications and the “think before you
copy” attitude, where employees are encouraged to use both
sides of the paper for printing and copying;

. Set computer defaults to double-sided printing and make
double-sided copies when possible;

. Communicate through email is suggested instead of letters or
fax when possible; and

. Receive incoming faxes electronically through an e-fax
system, and make hard copies only when necessary with
used paper.

BRYEE
$EIEMET—Ef%%Eﬂ§¢RﬁEW@%%

BRA-EA-HARFHGEERNAR AEEE

Em%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ KREEEWBERY BEEYA

DRMBAMEE A ETE IR

—REEY (RERE

ZY)) RO KR EEEY) o

EREPHTHBEEDEREREIZE/RREKEAE

TEGHMEE
ENEIE

158 R [ L2 A o = L fth 76 77 &9 % 32 490 HI OBl

BRFHRECEECERER MATEEKEME
RFEEZE:

O Yedin & ¢ K&

REDRBEEEABNERR M
REH (TEERERE) -

on g 4 1S K

RAETRARETHEEIUTRE:

HITEFBRAR=ZBMAINE] WES S@E
T AR & 51 :

BENKRE ARRERH DL LB R T
5N

REEFRENBERLTEBEFHMMIEFREE
BEBEA: M
BEERBAUNEFTAERER EEY
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At the current stage, non-hazardous waste is not a material
issue for the Group, as there is negligible waste generated from
our operations. The Group aims to maintain the intensity of the
non-hazardous waste with the baseline year in 2023 in the next
Reporting Year. However, the Group realises the importance
of proper waste management and will continue to educate its

EHREE AREBELNERY A BT BE
ERENHAEEMSAFEAHE - AKEN B R
RET " REFEUS_=FAELEFREESE
RYMBE - A AEERADNZLEETEERRZYN
BEEW YHEEHEHEBT-

employees.

2023

—E-=HF —E=-=

Non-hazardous waste
BEBEEY
Total non-hazardous waste produced 12.0
FTEXBREFEEVES
Intensity (by revenue) 0.003

BE (st E)

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group understands that effective resource management
is closely related to environmental protection and corporate
sustainability goals. Due to the nature of offices’ operations
and business, the major resources consumed by the Group
are electricity, water and paper. The Green Policy provides
various energy-saving measures for office activities. The Group
has enabled the off-timer function of office equipment, such
as photocopiers, printers and computer monitors in its offices,
allowing such equipment which have been idle for a long time
to automatically power down to save electricity. The Group also
considers the gradual replacement of energy-saving lamps,
including the installation of additional automatic light sensors
where appropriate. More than 30% of the office paper staff used
was from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing
supplies manufactured from recycled materials, such as tissue

paper.

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices. As stated in the Green Policy, the Group encourages its
staff members to scale down font size, reduce paper margins and
set up double-sided printing.

2022 2021 Unit
T —T--F B
28.9 23.6 kg
AF
0.006 0.005 kg/thousand HKD
BF/FHET
BEIREMA

AEBRANEINERER BRARENEENT
SELZRAGETHBE -ENBRAENEERERL
B AEEMERNIZEERBEEN KRMEK 4
BRRHHMAEBHRHET TRANEEREE AR E
ERBET RN I A EAEENH - FT EDH B
BTRESRhARE EREETMETRENRBEED
AN EEN - AEBTEEE S ERAGEER
BREECEHRYEEMEDALERSREE-ETHAN
30% A Ly A R AR BRI R R - AN R B A B
NBEEEM B EKOA NSRS -

AEBERBRGEREARENRABALBBERAEME
MEROKRERERNS U B - REBRIINARE
EEBETRAE N FRIFMENWESZIE X
MR EEmITE -
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The Group incorporates environmental issues into its business plan TEBRBBEEGAHERRBEMNALENE 2F &
systematically, including formulating more detailed corporate internal FEHETEFENLERNILIRRIES - UEREAFE
guidelines for environmental protection, as well as formulating FREBENBEE BEREHZTERRITB IR A
sustainable development policies and road maps in the long term SEFEANTEERTERBEENEREEANE S
and proactively promoting a number of environmental protection FRAK-AEEBGERAGRNE  HMEIERE
campaigns. The major resources used by the Group are principally B X FR B

attributed to electricity and water consumed at Hong Kong office. The
Group aims to improve its energy efficiency so as to achieve low-
carbon practice and emission reduction year by year.

The water consumption of the Group is minimal and was included REBMAKERD THATEES - EIt - HMIW
in the management fee. Therefore, the figures were not available HEAPRZEE R - AFERKEXTEHRTBUKA M
for our calculation. The daily water consumption is mainly supplied & EILEUKZ B R & o

by the municipal water network, and there is no difficulty in

sourcing water.

Due to our business nature as an investment holding company, HRBEMNEBUEERIREERAR AMOWEBT
our operation does not involve a significant amount of energy and WK B REIR AN K808 FE o R B BP9 30 M 2R R BE
water consumption. Although we have not set reduction targets, B ANEBEDERU TREERESERKE  FTE
the Group has implemented the following measures to enhance SERRIIRT

resource efficiency and the results achieved are listed below:

Light-emitting diode (LED)
X~ E (LED)
. Partial lightings of the office have been installed with light-emitting diodes instead of compact fluorescent lamps which can

reduce electricity consumption as compared with compact fluorescent lamps.
s WMAENMORAEKAE X _GHERKBREE HALBEEAARIASE -

Water consumption

R

. During the cleaning of office, the cleaning workers were strictly controlled for using of water and frequency of cleaning. As
a result, the consumption of water was saved.

« ERLENBRBEBRET BRABERBBIESIKNERREZER L BT REMRK.

Non-hazardous waste

BEBRRY

. Non-hazardous wastes generated from the office includes plastic bottle, paper for office use and kitchen waste. The
Group has contributed its best effort to minimize the impact on the environment by using recyclable raw materials or
supplementary materials in the production process. The Group promoted separation of wastes such as cartons and plastic
bottles, which were placed in certain areas assigned to recycled suppliers for collection.

s WMAZEEANEBTEEVEEBRE RLAERAREREERY AEEEEEBRERERAIOURM L SEBM R A&H
BARBNREHRENZE - AEBHEREEY S - 084858 & 2R E 72 15 7 [ 15 £ 0] AR 725 £ 7 7 U B -
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As the Group does not have any finished products, the use of
the packaging materials is not a material topic to the Group’s
operation. The Group has consumed the following amount of
resources during the Reporting Year:

2023
—E-=F -
Direct and indirect energy consumption
by type
REDBSWEERBEERERE
Indirect energy consumption 0.22
R B IRE R
Total energy consumption 0.22
BEREEASE
Intensity (by revenue) 0.0001

BE (Rt E)

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our
environmental initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious
culture that ingrains positive lifestyle and habits among employees.
We encourage the use of public transportation, and offer job ticket
incentives at some locations. Our event management is also an
avenue by which we seek to integrate sustainability principles.
Events are usually held on-site and avoid the use of disposal
utensils. For catering, locally grown/produced items are preferred
as opposed to packaged items with a higher carbon footprint.
Green procurement is adopted at some locations through the
purchase of eco-friendly cleaning solutions. During the Reporting
Year, there was no significant amount of natural materials used by
the Group.

£ R
HRASETETHXR BEVMENEREAEE
MEEMEYHFEERE - A EERREFEEHEDN
ER=MT:
2022 2021 Unit
-2z —E-—F B
1.72 1.71 MWh
Ik B B
1.72 1.71 MWh-e
JEEEiMi
0.0004 0.0003  MWh-e/thousand HKD
KERE2,/FTHET
BRARER
AEBHARZENBRMORKRFTEN 2R T M

BHEY —BRREFBHUE  EEEUEERRE
BREHEFHFAMBER BMBEAERAAARB
TE WEREMHR{IEZEBH - BMNEHE
Bo2EMSRBEUFEEZRRAIMNEGE HEHM
BEARQ 7LTT&L%1§F@* MRAAE - HRER H
ERERSMNBERMEL AthEE £FENR
DDEBTH%LLE%,EJE{%%/%/&'%Mi‘mﬁ%ﬂﬂT
BERB-RBREFE ASETEAEFHRARE
MR e
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change poses escalating risks to many industries. As such
risks may engender negative impacts on the business operation,
thus the Group’s management assesses the risks incurred by
climate change. Supported by the Taskforce, the Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy. The
Group has identified possible impacts of climate change on
business operations and mitigated the major impact caused by
climate change.

For physical risks, extreme weather has been more frequent
and severe due to climate change. The increased frequency and
severity of extreme weather might negatively affect the Group’s
operations. Under extreme weather, operational facilities may be
damaged, while the safety of the workforce may also be impacted.
The Group has developed guidelines for working arrangements in
adverse weather, which guide employees to respond to possible
emergencies such as being unable to work because of flooding
or typhoon strikes in the event of typhoon and rainstorm weather
warnings. The Group will stay alert to any announcement by
the local government on weather conditions and prepare for
emergency actions.

For transitional risk, SEHK has required listed companies to
enhance climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports, which
may result in increased compliance costs. Failure to meet the
climate change compliance requirements may expose the Group
to risks of claims and lawsuits, which may also cause a negative
impact on its reputation.

In the future, tightened policy actions and emerging technologies
might require the Group to switch to low-carbon operations
in the office. The upgrade of the office equipment with higher
energy efficiency and lower greenhouse gas emissions may
incur extra operation costs to support the Group’s technological
transformation.

RIREZ
ﬁ@ﬁkﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%%?%ﬂ@%@@°m%%@

EHXKELESTAEYE AREEEERAL
ﬂﬁﬂl“‘;ﬂt R R B T AR A - FE TR R
T EEerEEe e NREERRRERER
Ko LK 2R S H A TR PIRO BRBS - AR E 2 A
REBECHEBEENEBELE TRERIKEE
REERRE-

AERERMS - Him KR E R & S0 & 058
BRE-BmARNEXRBREREE NS GEHAEER
MELELABETE - EELEBKRROBERT &

EREHGERR AEEELXE2TAIEZIFE-

$%Iﬂﬂmﬁaﬁ)iﬁ%%%%1¢tmh@*
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SR
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of its
operations. Maintaining honest and authentic dialogue with our
staff, we seek to address our needs and views that ensure our
conduct is responsible at all times. We commit to offering a fair and
safe workplace with staff development opportunities. Furthermore,
we commit to the delivery of quality products grounded on ethical
business conduct and supply chain management, as well as to
meaningful engagements with the community.

Employment

The Group considers its staff as one of the most important assets,
which underpins the growth of the corporation. Each employee
deserves respect and is committed to providing a pleasant working
environment for them. The Group strives to provide a fair and
respectful working environment to our employees. The “Staff
Code” of the Group expressly provides policies in respect of
compensation, recruitment, dismissal, promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 570,
the law of Hong Kong), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
487, the law of Hong Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
480, the law of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608,
the law of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap.
282, the law of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Cap. 485, the law of Hong Kong), the Labour law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Prevention and the Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China.

HEER

BREREIESR
AEESHEETERREEENSEA @ A5 H
BB TR AEME MO E I 3m e e E Kk
MER  WEREMAECMEERSLSERMANITRER
BHZIIRRETIREATFNERBER LT ENTIIE
SRt REBRIRRERERERBHETAM

HEREENEBEEM ABOINBHRETEER
BWEE-
(3
BTIRAKEREENEEZ — REEKRENEL -

AEBEHEENETIHRXINESIR I RE TRHE
EENTHERR - AEESHARMNE TRHEQF
EENIERR - AEEN(RREIT) BER
ETEBEHM HE -fRE S5 TESE BH - F
SRIUREMFTBERBNSNBEK-

RBEFE ALEESFNBTMNEARSEREER
BHEMEEREZEMEAEEELAETATLENER
BIEETRAERGED (BEERE570%) - BEE
ﬁﬂfﬂ Bl (BB EDIE487F) R RIEH (FEE
F480% ) - HETE KD (FHEEDIE608F) - &
B EIED (BB AN F28258) st AESTE
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As of 31 March 2023, the Group has a total of 17 employees, BHE_Z_=F=A=+—H AKEHXERITEE
including employees from Hong Kong, and the total employee T(REABETL) #BEIRAER% - EATEER
turnover rate is 0%. The distribution of the workforce classified by E MBI M T :

different categories is listed as follows:

Number of Employee By Gender Number of Employee By Age Group
RS SNEEEHE RFERAERS I NESHE

m<30 m31-40 ®40-50 ®m51-60 m>60

W Female Z1 ' Male B <303% 31-403% 40-503% 51-60B% >605%
T sk
Number of Employee By Level Number of Employee By
BEEREIHNESHA Geographical Region
RWEESNESEHA

M Director 2 © Employee fEE B Hong Kong &8 ® China FEI
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Recruitment and Promotion

The human resources department conducts a comprehensive
recruitment review process to ensure that the data provided
by the candidates are accurate. The Group’s recruitment and
promotion process are carried out in a fair and open manner for
all employees. Employees are recognized and rewarded by their
contribution, work performance and skills, and outcomes will not be
affected by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, physical
or mental health status, marital status, family status, race, skin
colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation
and other factors. In cases of resignation and/or dismissal, the
entire procedure is compliant with statutory requirements, with
exit interviews conducted as necessary. Long-serving employees
are recognized through award schemes. The Group monitors
the turnover rate with a view to continuously improve our human
resources management.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the human
resources manuals are reviewed and updated regularly. The
Group discourages and disallows any behaviour that violates the
regulations in the human resources policies. Offenders will receive
warning, and the Group has the right to terminate employment
contract with offenders for any serious violations. The Group’s
staff grievance mechanism is a confidential channel by which
staff may report suspected cases of rights infringement, which
are then handled according to formal procedures. Other regular
communication channels include newsletters, circular notices,
notice boards, as well as working groups. Staff satisfaction
surveys and staff motivation schemes are also conducted which
further demonstrate our commitment to improving the working

environment.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, physical or mental health
status, marital status, family status, race, skin colour, nationality,
religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation. In selecting our
employees, the Group considers the experience, knowledge and
background of the individual that can contribute to the diversity
and caliber. We embrace diversity and inclusion in our employment
policy that builds a respectful workplace, where equal opportunities
with regard to recruitment and promotion are given to staff with
disabilities. Necessary accommodations to work environment are
also carried out to meet their needs. All personnel staff receives
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training related to non-discriminatory practices for the surest
measure. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure workplace
with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/or sexual harassment
in the workplace. Staff grievance and disciplinary procedures of the
Group are established to ensure all submitted cases are treated
with confidentiality and fairness.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

We seek to cultivate a culture of healthy work-life balance. All
working hours comply with national laws and benchmark industry
standards, and overtime work is voluntary. The Group adopts a
five-day work-week and encourages our employees to have a
good balance among health, work and social or family activities.
The Group assists staff to balance commitments outside of work
by offering a range of leaves, which include annual, marriage,
maternity, paternity, compassionate and others. To encourage
social bonding in the workplace, the Group has also arranged
recreational events during the Reporting Year, such as various
dinner gatherings, sports activities, and birthday and festive
celebrations.

Other Benefits and Welfare

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive level
and are rewarded according to their performance and experience.
We conduct annual performance appraisals and remuneration
review that take reference of prevailing market trends. Employees
are entitled to performance-linked bonuses, retirement benefit
schemes, as well as medical coverage.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Regardless of local laws or international standards, regulatory
bodies all have in place the basic requirements in relation to health
and safety in workplaces. Due to its business nature, the current
business operations of the Group primarily involve office work
and no position has been identified as having high safety risks.
The Group not only strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, but also sets out “Code of Employee
Safety Management”. The above policy aims to foster awareness
of safety of employees and regulate the employee’s behaviours
during their daily work. The policy also states that fire-fighting
equipment, such as fire extinguishers, are required to be equipped
at the workplace, and safety training and fire drills for employees
are conducted regularly, in order to enhance employees’ capability
to cope with unexpected incidents and allow them to perform
safety protection in a timely manner.

HTHESHAPERNTZANERR FIUERERDNTR
BeARBEHETBTHRRMLERERSF UERHAE
RIHNEHHZBREMALENE -

THHERER

BN RkEE—BRERITFREEFENOX -E
THERBBONABEZEAMMITEEERE RINTE
BRMEE RNEEETRARIESH SBESERE .
THEREZRXREGHEMERIFTFE - FAEEBB
REZEARABRBHE T FEHIEUIINES 257
FRER ER BER REREREM - /ERETHF
SHREHENBE NEBEEREFELHTRE
EE PINEERE BEEY LRRYMEREMS-

HEtiFBRER
AEBNREESERFONGHH LREMMHK
BNERESER -RMN2EEAMEBEETFE
BRAEMENES BT T HHEBREHBNES .
RINEFIG B R BERE -

RERZZ

Ewmit AP ERBERFRENER AAEEERED
HBTHESHOREEZE2HETEANER REE
BUHEER AEEENEBEEIESRBIAET
- UEFERSLZ2EABRNTEEL - AEENER
RETEEMEBENRA LAESET (BT LR
EIESTAD c LMK EAEREBRINLEN#ERR
MEBBT AR TEITR BURINI A TR AMBA
B ARERNEM YLERBTEIRE2EIIR
HER BB TRESRERIREEMFMEE
FEETRAMKATZEHETIE-



Annual Report
2022/23 $p o

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R 8 RERTKE

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
applicable Safety and Health laws and regulations that has
a significant impact on the Group relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509, the law of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282, the law of Hong Kong),
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance (the law of Hong
Kong) Fire Services Ordinance (Cap. 95, the law of Hong Kong),
etc., during the Reporting Year. During the past three years,
including the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any
accidents that resulted in death or serious physical injury.

Number of work-related fatalities
ETIEBEEMIETEHAH

Rate of work-related fatalities
EITEBEmMIE TR

Lost days due to work injury
BIGHEEATIERH

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group firmly believes that fostering and retaining talent is a
core part of ensuring corporate development and strengthening
its competitiveness. The Group has prepared its management
system on staff training, which formed the basis of planning and
implementation of training system. The Group has offered various
types of targeted training to its staff based on the actual needs of
different departments and functions, and developed personalized
training development programs for key positions, aiming to
motivate employees to develop their potential. The Group has
also encouraged staff to engage in external programmes, such
as online courses for continuous professional development and
skillset enhancement.

The Group offers induction orientation and appropriate assistance
for every newly-joined staff member. The induction orientation
mainly introduces the Group, its corporate culture, rules and
regulations and code of conduct, etc., which enables staff to fit
into the corporate culture of the Group and further understand their
working environment and responsibility. The Group is committed
to establishing a platform for career development for its staff and
to providing on-job internal training relating to professional skills,
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general management skills, career development and mentality.
Also, staff are provided with the opportunity to attend business
training organized by external training organizations. The Group
encourages the staff to take seminars and other activities related
to the business. Based on its business development requirements,
the Group will consider to cooperate with relevant training
organizations or institutions engaged in providing training for
certain management or technical personnel in key positions.

Training for new staff

#ETEI

Training for existing staff
TR 8 T3
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Entrusted training

ZEEHI

* Introduction of the Group » Professional skills  Training for technical

« Corporate culture « General management personne

. Rul d lati skills  Training for management
ules and regulations personnel

» Code of conduct and mentality

» Business training

< REEBN

« BEXI(E - BEXRE

« REHIE - BREERKEE

< TIRKRE - BEHREOE
« BEERE

Looking ahead, the Group will strengthen its staff communication
mechanism and gather staff feedback on training. The Group plans
to collect feedback on training including satisfaction surveys from
participating staff, and to review the implementation of training
programs in a timely manner, so that the effectiveness of the
training system could be further enhanced.

LABOUR STANDARDS

Child and forced labor, though seemingly irrelevant to most
developed societies, are in fact easily present in the value chain
of any business operation. To combat against such practices, the
Group prohibits all forms of child labor and forced labor or modern
slavery, as defined by the International Labour Organization, not
only in our operations but also throughout our supply chain.

» Career development

o BATEATTFII
« REER AL
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FIMBER -AKEFERN2EE TRERIESH
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We prohibit any form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor,
human trafficking and other kinds of slavery and servitude. Any
form of discrimination, harassment or bullying is not tolerated.
We extend our commitment to our suppliers by requiring all
business partners to take measures to avoid and eliminate any
form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor, or human trafficking.
The rights and freedoms of every individual is protected as no
worker is asked to surrender identification documents nor lodge
deposits as a condition of employment. Cases of child labor in our
businesses are averted by conducting age verification of all job
applicants. If there are any cases of forced labour, child labour
and illegal immigrant labour on staff, employment with all these
candidates will be immediately terminated. The Group would also
take responsibility for the investigation.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, the law of Hong Kong),
Immigration Ordinance (Cap. 115, the law of Hong Kong),
Employment of Children Regulations and other applicable laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour during the
Reporting Year.

OPERATING PRACTICES AND SOCIAL
INVESTMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

It is our objective to work and procure from reputable suppliers,
and the Group’s internal control policy provided procedures for
supplier selection and engagement are formulated to ensure
fairness and openness. As the business nature of the Group is
investment, there was no major supplier for the Group’s operation.

The Procurement and Tender process is generally applicable
to office supply suppliers, such as on potable water, paper and
stationery products, and is decided based solely upon price, quality
and needs. Suppliers should comply with all relevant local and
national laws and regulations to avoid unethical behaviour, bribery,
corruption and other prohibited business practices. Any non-
compliance act shall result in termination of future cooperation.
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The Group also focused on the environmental and social risks of
its suppliers. The Group focused on purchasing from suppliers
who complied with all labour and environmental regulation of local
government and authorities. Looking forward, the Group intends to
periodically evaluate supply chain performance in environmental
and social aspects, and appropriate compliance assessment shall
be conducted in order to reduce operation risk and protect rights
and interests of all parties.

To integrate the environmental vision of the Group into the
procurement of office supplies, priority is given to environmentally
friendly products, such as refillable ballpoint pens, mechanical
pencils and recyclable toner cartridges. Besides, we prioritise
purchasing energy-saving products in order to reduce the negative
effects brought by the Group’s supply chain. With our strict
adherence to green procurement principle, the usage of materials
is constantly evaluated to avoid overstocking and squandering

resources.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
potential negative impact on business ethics, environmental
protection,

human rights and labor practices, nor any

noncompliance incident caused by suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group’s operation is investment holding, and there were no
material issues regarding to product responsibility, health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters as determined by
the Group.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not identify any non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided in the Reporting Year. These laws include but
not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, the
law of Hong Kong), Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 559, the law of
Hong Kong), Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514, the law of Hong Kong)
and Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528, the law of Hong Kong).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group believes that integrity is the fundamental value of
responsible corporate operations, as well as the root of maintaining
competitive advantages and sustainable development. The Group
values the good characters and conducts of its staff members and
has zero tolerance over any behavioural misconduct, including
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering. The
“Anti-Fraud System” of the Group sets out the concept and format
of such misconduct, the vesting of responsibilities of anti-fraud
endeavours, the complaints, receiving and reporting procedures
of fraudulent activity, preventions and control of fraudulent
activity, protection of informants, as well as the remedies and
disciplinary actions on fraudulent cases, in order to incorporate
the management principles of anti-corruption in the business
operations.

Whistle-blowing Policy

In respect of unverified reports from the general staff, the office
of the Board shall conduct joint evaluation with the human
resources department of the Group to decide whether to conduct
an investigation. Should the case involve any senior management
of the Group, with the permission of the Board and the audit
committee, the standing officer of the anti-fraud unit and the
management of the respective department shall form a joint
special investigation unit to conduct a joint investigation. Any staff
confirmed to be involved in such fraudulent activities shall be
subject to disciplinary actions within the Group, or, any misconduct
of a criminal nature shall be referred to the judicial authorities
for processing under the laws. Regardless of conducting special
investigation or not, the Group shall respond to the complaining
persons in regards to the result of the investigation, and shall
record in detail the complaint and investigation materials and keep
the relevant files for record.

The Group shall maintain the confidentiality of the reported
information and relevant information of the complaining persons,
and restrict any staff member receiving such complains or involved
in the investigation from disclosing any such information without
authorization or verification. The abovementioned system is
applicable to all staff members.
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Anti-corruption Training

The Group understands the importance of promoting anti-
corruption thoughts to the employees. The Group prepared
an internal anti-corruption training session for Directors and
employees to strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance
the awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity issues. The
training session was led by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Executive
Director).

During the Reporting Year, the anti-corruption measures of the
Group were in effect, and no court cases involving corruption of
the Group or staff members have arisen. The Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201, the law of Hong Kong) and other applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during
the Reporting Year.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviours and
social responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns
to reward shareholders is no longer the only goal of corporate
management. The Group pays close attention to its bonds with the
community where it operates and is well aware of the importance
of different stakeholders’ expectations. The Group firmly believes
that balancing the interests between shareholders and other
stakeholders is the only way to achieve the long-term business
development in a stable and healthy manner.

The Group pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and long-lasting
benefits to the local communities. The Group supports long-term
community investment by encouraging our employees to actively
participate in social welfares, voluntary services and community
activities in their spare time, so as to further share the care and
warmth to their families and surrounding communities. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, tentative plans to undertake on site practice
review visits for the social educational sector were cancelled. The
Group will continue seek opportunity on making contribution or
participating in the voluntary work on supporting education for the
needy in the coming financial year.

Looking forward, the Group will study the possibility of establishing
the specialized committee to plan and promote such activities in
relation to the sustainable development of communities based
on its own prospect and objective in respect of the Group’s
sustainable future.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Environmental Aspects?

RiGE @2

Aspect A1: Emissions
AMBE: HEBRY

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity
BERBAHNERZE

Scope 2 emissions

& 28 W

Scope 3 emissions

 [E 35

Total greenhouse gas emissions

RERBAENRE

Intensity (by revenue)

BE (RkhETHE)

A1.4 Non-hazardous waste

BEBREY

Total non-hazardous waste produced
MELREEENHEE

Intensity (by revenue)

BE (RWETHE)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
A5 E:ERER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
REANUINEER SBEERERE

Indirect energy consumption

BEEN G

Total energy consumption

R IREFE

Intensity (by revenue)

BE (RkatE)

2023
—s-=

0.15

0.05

0.20

0.06

12.0

0.003

0.22

0.22

0.0001

2 The environmental KPls are calculated in accordance with the “How

to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on

Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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2022 2021
—E-- —E-—F
1.22 1.22
0.12 0.07
1.34 1.29
0.30 0.29
28.9 23.6
0.006 0.005
1.72 1.71
1.72 1.71
0.0004 0.0003

£ W

Unit

B

tonnes CO,-e
M-AtREE

tonnes CO,-e
W-StiRER

tonnes CO,-e
W_E{iRER

kg CO,-e/thousand HKD
A —EHREE/THAT

kg

AR

kg/thousand HKD
BF/FHRE

MWh

KR

MWh-e

KEFEEE
MWh-e/thousand HKD
kREKEE/THET

2 RBMREBIEEDERB R EME A EERSE
HEgkERBSE — M BRERABURIRERE
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Social Aspects® 2023
HEER —g==

Aspect B1: Employment

B15E :EfR
B1.1 Total workforce
EERHY
Total number of employees 17
EBEH
By gender Female 6
I RIE 5 g
Male 1
CER i
By employment type Full-time 17
REREMNE D £
Part-time 0
e
By age group 30 years old or below 1
RERERIE D 30T
31-40 years old 7
31-407%
41-50 years old 2
41-505%
51-60 years old 4
51-607%
Over 60 years old 3
607% A -
By employee category Director 6
REEENE S =
Employee 1"
&8
By function Executive 16
P HITAE
Administrative 1
THAR
By geographical region Hong Kong 9
RIIEE i E D B
China 8
i
3 The social KPIs are calculated in accordance with the “How to Prepare 3

an ESG Report? — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

2022
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17

1"

17

1"

16

17

11

17

Unit

B

employee
ZEE
employee
#ES
employee
#EE
employee
ZEE
employee
#ES
employee
#EE
employee
ZEE
employee
#ES
employee
#EE
employee
ZEE
employee
#ES
employee
#REE
employee
%EE
employee
#ES
employee
#REE
employee

%EE
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Social Aspects?® 2023 2022 2021  Unit
HEB®E —E-= e —E--F B

B1.2 Employee turnover rate
EERALLE
Total employee turnover rate 0% 0% 0% %
BMETRAR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
B25H: RERZZ

B2.1  Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0 no.
EIfEBREMETHAR A
Rate of work-related fatalities 0% 0% 0% %
THhTE

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0 day
EIGBRAIKRE PN

Aspect B3: Development and Training
B3%H : & REH
B3.1 Percentage of trained employees

ZiEEEA

Percentage of total employees trained 53% 0% - %
HEXIEEB S
By gender Female 33% - - %
R RIE 5 foqid
Male 67% - - %
S
By employee category Director 67% - - %
RERERNE S 5%
Employee 33% - - %
&8
By function Executive 89% - - %
RRALE D HiITABR
Administrative 11% - - %

THAE
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RIE HERERRE

Social Aspects® 2023 2022 2021 Unit
HEB®E —E-= e —E--F B

B3.2 Average training hours completed

52 B3 I8P 39 I B

Average training hours per employee 1.1 0 — hour/employee
BEEEXIIN TR I ER
By gender Female 1.0 0 — hour/employee
BRI RIE 5 pegid ANEYEL 3=
Male 1.1 0 — hour/employee
EELid N/ EEER
By employee category Director 2.0 0 — hour/employee
RERENE D S N/ EEER
Employee 0.5 0 — hour/employee
BB ANCYEL 3=
By function Executive 1.0 hour/employee
A P HITAR ANGYEL 3
Administrative 2.0 hour/employee
THAER ANCYEL -3
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7FH:RES
B7.1  Number of concluded legal cases regarding corruption 0 case
BEREYREGSHFARGEE 1
B7.3  Anti-corruption training
K& &
Number of anti-corruption training sessions 1 no.
R E B AR E R
Total number of training hours related to anti-corruption 18 hour
RS A e R I
Percentage of employees with Directors
anti-corruption training 100% %
EXRESEINEERSL =
Employees 18% %

(=3



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R 7 TS

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

r

To the Members of

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 85 to 159, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Annual Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2023, fair value measurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$6,611,000 were categorised as level 3 in the fair

value hierarchy.

The valuation of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss involved higher degree of estimation
uncertainty, subjectivity and management judgment.

We have identified the valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments through profit or loss as a key audit matter because it
involved significant unobservable inputs which involve significant
management judgements and assumptions and thus involved a
higher degree of uncertainty in the valuation.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the

following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We assessed the appropriateness for the selection of the
valuation model used by management based on the market
practice and our knowledge of the nature of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss;

RRELREE
PAREBEZFEERBERMANBRIAE HREMEE
ECR__F-A=t+-RIFEZEARUBRRN
EARREENER-ZEFRNREAMBELERSK
EMBHRRLEABABERNETRE BRMALE
HREEREHERNER -

BRERER

URFPlEGABRGERITEZ BFEHFLETERAR
BZ14E

R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H BEEZUAF¥E
HAABEEZELETRAREZRAFEFEN A
6,611,000 0 AR TFTEEH P E3IN-

ARFEFABREZIFLETRARE 2 HESRR
SRENMEF A EEN  TEM LB E A -

MBS BREEHARGEZHLTRARE D
BEHAA-AEUERFR RRERLSREAT
THEBARS EATTREBHARBSREAE
AN R BRI AR RSN TR
i

EFMNEBEREERAREZRZTEZAR

BMAETENETEEZERFOT

«  HMFE EEEIIEBEEMNT® EHRE
37

c EMBREBEMSEMNRBEMEZZUNRFETAR

afR M BEEREN TR EEEEEME
AR M EELNEE
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. We evaluated the reasonableness of the assumptions, inputs
and method of the valuation model used by the Group’s
external value;

. We checked the mathematical accuracy of valuation
calculation.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Annual Report
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

EERAEENGESMBRR2ER

EXRERBEEREAMRAGRM BT ERBRSEE
ARBERAGINKBERACREEERAF ZHAE
BHRER UHERREAESAVBREZIERTF
ERRMAFRERMEMMERERRAFBTFOR

MEZEESR-
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BRBMRERGREMBERRZERE
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BENZEGEZER BT (EFRER)RE Ktz
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AT B ERAREAEE A EFREZSKFOR
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Annual Report
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. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
,%',;'—: ’I%“ E ﬁ_ﬁ & E {‘m < E LI& ﬁ_ﬁ %E For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE —ZE-_=F=HA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-=F —F-_=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FTHET FHET

Gross proceeds from disposal of HEETES S RIBEE

listed securities 177,729 22,701
Revenue I 2 8 3,592 4,478
Net realised gain/(loss) on disposal of HEUNRFEFAEREZ

listed equity investments at fair value EmRAKRE 2B I8

through profit or loss Wz (F518) F58 1,817 (455)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on listed AR B ABREZ

equity investments at fair value EHRARE 2 REIR

through profit or loss (FE) ha=EFE (32,610) 112
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR B ABREZ

investments at fair value through FEMBRAEEZ

profit or loss REREERIFHE (2,375) (8,654)
Impairment losses under expected HHEEEBEEREATH

credit loss model, net of reversal EEE (CHBREER) 10 (1,170) 8,700
Administrative expenses THAX (9,921) (10,706)
Finance costs & B A 12 (485) (493)
Loss before tax MRBLATE R 11 (41,152) (7,018)
Income tax credit FriefBie 13 = -
Loss and total comprehensive expense ZAATEEAEBGLEER

for the year attributable to owners EBERZEMAXARE

of the Company (41,152) (7,018)

HK cents HK cents
AL Rl

Loss per share BREE

— Basic —HA 15 (10.92) (2.27)

- Diluted — 15 (10.92) (2.27)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z = =HA=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-= S
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FET FAET
Non-current assets RBEE
Equity investments at fair value AR ERABREZ
through profit or loss R E 17 6,611 15,486
Debt investments measured BEHERATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 17,223 9,775
23,834 25,261
Current assets REEE
Equity investments at fair value AR EFABREZ
through profit or loss f& A& & 17 132,546 148,345
Debt investments measured BEENATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 10,724 12,177
Other receivables, prepayments H b U GRIE - BRI RIERIZS
and deposits 20 9,806 29,086
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 21 27,585 10,849
180,661 200,457
Current liabilities RBAE
Margin payables ERRES 22 5,017 12,570
Other payables and accruals BB RIB M ERE A 2,847 3,433
7,864 16,003
Net current assets RBEEFE 172,797 184,454
Net assets EEFRE 196,631 209,715




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZ—Z = =HA=+—HItFE

e MR IR R 3R

2022/23 Annual Report

£ W

2023 2022
—E-=fF —F-—

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FHERT FET

Capital and reserves EXRGFHE
Share capital A& A 23 413 325
Reserves (Eke] 196,218 209,390
Total equity T KR 196,631 209,715
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BREEFEET) 25 0.48 0.65

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2023 and
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee
BRE =
Director

EFE

BEMBREAENR_Z_=ZFNA=-THESESZ=SH]
EREETE WEHTIALTRRES:

FONG On Shek

FEA
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= 3L 4= N e —
,2,51-\ ’é‘ *E o ﬁ E}J %% For the year ended 31 March 2023 #i= — T - =F=A=+—HI-FE
Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
B ROEE REHRREE BRERE 2EE BE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TR TET TiEx TET TET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(K3 (a)) (KH&E (b)) (K& (c))
As at 1 April 2022 RZZE--_FWNA—H 325 937,046 112,657 7,853 (848,166) 209,715
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYAE
expense for the year - - - - (41,152) (41,152)
Issue of shares upon exercise of REREETERZTRG
share options 23 9,706 - (2,619) - 7,110
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRG 65 16,412 - - - 16,477
Grant of share options RHERE - - - 4,481 - 4,481
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-Z=§=BA=+-H 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (889,318) 196,631
Capital Share
Share Share reduction option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R RiEE BRAEREE - ERERE 2EE#E Fak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THT FTET TET FET FTET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(B 7E(a)) (MEE(b)) (B3t (c))
As at 1 April 2021 RZE-—FWA—H 271 921,106 112,657 2,620 (841,148) 195,506
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYEE
expense for the year - - - - (7,018) (7,018)
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRG 54 15,940 - - - 15,994
Grant of share options RHERE - - - 5,233 - 5,233
As at 31 March 2022 RZB-Z“#=A=+-H 325 937,046 112,657 7,853 (848,166) 209,715
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
,%5_': é*&ﬁ_ﬁ % Ej] %% For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE —ZE-_=F=HA=+—HILFE

Notes:

(@) Share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company which is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law.

(b) Capital reduction reserve represents the net excess of proceeds on
reduction of share capital.

(c) Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to directors
and employee of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(@) BOEEEARARNZEEEFITARFRD (ZFH
ERFEMRE ) ERZABFIRZEZR -

(b) BRI B 45 HIBL A AN 1O PR 45 BRIV BB h 28 9 -

(c) BWREREBEENASEEERESRHIERRME
BEZMARITEBREZATE EREBEGAVB®RE
B3Il BE LA BRI 48 B DA B 1) RETE 2 N RER M 2 & &
PR HER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,%5'1-\ ’é‘ EE, % 5)2|f, % %:z For the year ended 31 March 2023 &=L - —-F=-A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities LRETHRERE
Loss before tax B 156 A S 18 (41,152) (7,018)
Adjustments for: MUATHEEEHF:
Interest income FLE KA (3,468) (4,275)
Dividend income & B A (124) (203)
Interest expenses FERE 485 493
Net realised loss on disposal of HENAFEFABREZ
listed equity investments at fair value ETRARE 2B R EEFE
through profit or loss (1,817) 455
Net unrealised loss/(gain) on listed equity A AFEFFABHEZ
investments at fair value through LR E 2 KRR
profit or loss BiE, (W) F5E 32,610 (112)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AATFEFABRERZ
investments at fair value through JEETMRAIEE 2 REIRHIBFE
profit or loss 2,375 8,654
Impairment losses under expected FEHEEEBEEEX THREEE
credit loss model, net of reversal (B AEEE) 1,170 (8,700)
Equity-settled share-based payments INIRBEEE ARG BER 2 X
expenses 4,481 5,233
Operating loss before working LEESEHANKEEE
capital changes (5,440) (5,473)
Purchase of equity investments at BEARATFTEFABEEREZRAKE
fair value through profit or loss (190,602) (50,197)
Proceeds from disposal of HEUNAFEFABEERZ
equity investments at fair value A& & 2 FTi55IA
through profit or loss 179,729 22,701
Purchase of debt investments BEREHEAAFTEZEBRE
measured at amortised cost (20,000) -
Purchase of unlisted convertible bonds at ~ BEE MU AFEFAEBREZ
fair value through profit or loss FEEMAIRERES (2,121) -
Proceed of disposal of debt investment PERBHEKAHFEZEBHREZ
measured at amortised cost P8 s IE 15,000 -
Decrease in other receivables, H A EWRIE ~ BB RIS R
prepayments and deposits 22,143 13,982
(Decrease)/increase in margin payables ERRESZ OBd) /8m (7,553) 8,148

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and
accruals

Hib N RAEREER
R4 /s

(586)
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,%5'1-\ é‘ EE, ﬁ 5)2|f, = %% For the year ended 31 March 2023 B E —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash used in from operations KEEFTAMNIR S (9,430) (10,734)
Dividend received BEAR 2 124 203
Interest received B F E 2,940 3,090
Interest paid BEAHFLE (485) (493)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEFTAMNIR 2T (6,851) (7,934)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing 15 & fg & 2 17 i% 15 FT 15 ;A 16,900 16,254
Proceeds from issue of shares upon BBETEBREZITRG
exercise of share options FriS sk A 7,110 -
Expenses in connection with issuance HETROHEEMNER
of shares (423) (260)
Net cash generated from financing activities Bt & /EEFTEHIIR & F5E 23,587 15,994
Net increase in cash and RekBESEEYEMFE
cash equivalents 16,736 8,060
Cash and cash equivalents at the RBEBRUIZHAESRRESEEY
beginning of the reporting period 10,849 2,789
Cash and cash equivalents RBEHRZRERELEEY
at the end of the reporting period 27,585 10,849
Analysis of balances of cash and ReERBREEEYERDN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances [ e MIRTTH &R 24,655 4,515
Deposits at other financial institutions REM S B 273K 2,930 6,334
27,585 10,849
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollar (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework

Amendments to
HKFRS 3, HKAS 16
and HKAS 37

Narrow-scope Amendments

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment —

HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Costs of
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018 — 2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback®

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities
HKAS 1 as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)*
Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies’

Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’
Amendments to HKAS 12  Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEBHBRHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding amount at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEETHRME (&)
POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs BERAE

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. The
Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such
contributions). As at 31 March 2023, no forfeited contribution
under the pension scheme of the Group is available for
deduction of contribution payable in coming years.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Provisions BiE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present EAEBEABASHARERBERET CEELHE
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, E) -mMAKEAgEABNEEEE BFHEEAT
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that SRR SEMMATRUIBER T - BIERR 45 -

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as

revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%',;'—: ’g‘ ,E\ZI' i%ﬁ %:z MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—FT - =F=A=1+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

B 75 R AR BT AE

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net unrealised loss on listed/unlisted equity
investments at FVTPL” and “net realised loss on disposal
of listed equity investment at FVTPL” line items.

3.
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The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including debt
investments measured at amortised cost, other receivables
and deposits, bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

B B B E & B & R 2o F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%5'1-\ é‘ /E\ZI' f[l% $E’( %:z MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HIFE
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets HEEERE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

2022/23 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

F I
For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HItFE
FTESHEEHE (&)
SRIA (&)
BHBEE (#)
BEEERE (&)

(i) EEREMBEE

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain other receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHEEBE (E)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) B EERE ()
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued) (v) BHEEBENEHEER (E)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to BEEETHBRN S ENE UBREZET
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share BB MAEBEUNEERBFE -
similar credit risk characteristics.
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying FEWRATIREMBEE 2 BETEE
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset RIEMBEELREERE THEBERT
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is FBUWARIEI & E 2 BHKARNFTE -
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in AEBFZRAPAEREDEMMESRT
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting B PR E U S EIE -
their carrying amount.
Derecognition of financial assets U ER B E
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the AEFEETCWREERRENE LR ERE
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire. RILERZMIEERE -
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised RITERRBHENAAENMBEER BER
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂ”ﬁl&fﬂﬁlﬁf’iZﬂZF'ﬁﬁ’]%%ﬁb’/\?@ s
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is TR o
recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities and equity BHEERER
Classification as debt or equity DB EB L B
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial BEHERBRETADREBEGNLZHEZBEEREANSD K&
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the BEEERATACZEZDBEAMBEEIRAE -

contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%5'1-\ ’é‘ ,E\ZI' i%ﬁ %:z MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 #i= — T - =F=A=+—HI-FE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including margin payables, other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(ii) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued) BMEAL (H)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any (b)y MRETHKRE NEBEAEE(Z2RE
of the following conditions applies: (continued) B)B#ME: (&)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (viii) Z BB EMBEEZERKE DT
part, provides key management personnel services MARBAAEETARREETEE
to the Company or the Group’s parent. BAERSE-

Close members of the family of a person are those R ATHEBRREXNERERLHZE

family members who may be expected to influence, or be BHNZX7FHEZATHIZZATHEDN

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity REKEILBIE:

and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic (i) ZBRATHTFAREBIREMSE:
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic (i) ZBALTHEBIREMBH T K
partner; or

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse (i) ZBATHZEATHEBRRER
or domestic partner. BRZEA-

Contingent assets/liabilities BREEBE

Contingent assets BEREE

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected IAREEELEBHFABIEMBEIIEG K
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic AR AAREETREEMNMRRA  EAER
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the REMBMERANER  REBEFENHHA
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses EEMERE MEFRLBEHSEELSER
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has mm A A AREEN R EEH RS HABR
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits FEMTBHRRERERE RBBARKA -

will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities (continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be met
by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable

estimate can be made.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of investments in unlisted equity
securities

Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant
influence over those investments since the Group and each
of the investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude
the followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered

as the associate of the Group.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4., BEREHHERAETTHBEZEZEE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION KRR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies ERAESBRNERME (F)
(continued)
Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of HHEEE R BN EERBEEEN
ECL
As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial assets NPT EESAT AL AN B E R A H ERE R
that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether MBI BEE WTHERTPEIABEERRE
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial BREEZFREM-MEERBRBEZEM KXQA#R
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit BEEmE2E R BEHREEBEEFERE-
risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on BEEMBRELFR T ERTEERRBEE
lifetime rather than 12m ECL. HKFRS 9 does not define what BNHEXKER - RFM-—REENEERRZ
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing BEELENE AEEEREMREENEEA
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased FAENER BER P REXRAAG - EATMHE
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative ERRBES KNIEIGIMNATE RN ER SRS [8
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information with EEERE] K6 -
significant judgments involved. Information that will be taken
into account when assessing whatever there is significant
increase in credit risks are set out in “Impairment of financial
assets” in note 3 and note 6.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty RATHPEREZETERIR
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, EHABENETEBRRUARRBERREFEERXR
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end EREHRAT—EHBNFEFEHEERBENERR
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing BEEEAFHBRNEAME ZEFTTARAEZKIRE
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and T Gmit e
liabilities within the next financial year.
Fair value measurements and valuation processes RFEFTERGERE
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value AEBETEENRATFEAENARM AR
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the B -ARRERBERAFEFEETCER®BE
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques g K A B o

and inputs for fair value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engages independent professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Company
works closely with the independent professional valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management of the Company reports the
valuation findings to the board of directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation technique that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7 provides
detailed information about the valuation technique, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various assets and liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost
based on the credit risk of the respective financial instrument.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk and therefore expected cash
flows of the respective financial instrument involves a high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment charges or a material reversal of
impairment charges may arise, accordingly. The information
about the ECL on the financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

In response to the requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company is responsible in developing and maintaining the
processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit
risk, incorporation of forward looking information and the
method used to measure ECL; and ensuring that the Group
has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group employs external valuer who use external and
internal information to generate scenario of future forecast
of relevant economic variables. The internal and external
information used includes the historical data of the Group
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental
bodies and monetary authorities respectively. Accordingly,
when measuring ECL the Group selects and uses reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based on
assumptions and estimates for the future movement of
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect
each other as well as the correlation.

Measurement of ECL

Probability of default (“PD”) constitutes a key input in
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of
default over a given time horizon, the calculation is based
on reasonable and appropriate statistical rating models
selected by the management with judgments. These statistical
models are based on market data (where available), as
well as internal data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. The management
gathers this information and adjust the data to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or
effort.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss Given Default (‘LGD”) is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive. In assessing the lifetime ECL on
credit-impaired financial assets classified as stage 3, the
Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
specific to the debtors or borrowers, general economic
conditions and both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions with
significant judgments involved. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
material differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Details information with regard to the exposure to credit risk
and ECLs are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €W I A

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

ERMIAEZSE
RS HEGERE SENERTAZREEN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:
Financial Financial
Financial assets at  liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
LATE REHERE REHRE
FABER HEZ TEZ
ZHBEE MEEE LUg 3= @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
2023 —BC-ZR
Debt investments measured at amortised cost  ZE A E 2 EBRIRE - 27,947 - 27,947
Equity investments at FVTPL URTEFABRERERE 139,157 - - 139,157
Other receivables and deposits H U B kiR e - 9,787 - 9,787
Cash and cash equivalents BehBHeEEY - 27,585 - 27,585
139,157 65,319 - 204,476
Margin payables [EfHRES - - 5,017 5,017
Other payables and accruals HibENFEREER - - 2,847 2,847
- - 7,864 7,864
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
WATE  REEKE REHRA
FABRE HEZ AEZ
LHBEE HMBEE HBBE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TAEL FAEL TAEL
2022 —E-CF
Debt investments measured at amortised cost XK A E 2 BEBRE - 21,952 - 21,952
Equity investments at FVTPL NATEFAERRZREKEE 163,831 - - 163,831
Other receivables and deposits HthEFERES - 29,054 - 29,054
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBEEEN - 10,849 - 10,849
163,831 61,855 - 225,686
Margin payables EfRES - - 12,570 12,570
Other payables and accruals HEtERNHIBEREER - - 3,433 3,433
- - 16,003 16,003
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at FVTPL, debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, other payables and accruals, and margin
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as the all of its transactions are denominated in HKS,
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in listed
equity investments at FVPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
and sell listed securities are rested with assigned investment
managers and governed by specific investment guidelines.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in 4 (2022: 2) sectors quoted in the Stock
Exchange.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as listed equity investments at FVTPL were higher or lower
by 5% as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 5%), the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 March 2023 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$6,627,000 (2022: HK$7,417,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and deposits at other financial institutions. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Debt investments measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in unlisted bonds issued by listed
companies in Hong Kong which exposed to credit risk.
The credit risk of debt investments is managed through an
internal process. The credit quality of each counterparty is
investigated before an advance is made. The Group also
actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by the issuer
and uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group actively
monitors the outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HIFE

eWMIA (&)
1= & 3 B 2 ORi B R Al ()
RITHBRREME BB FH

HREFHTRAREREEFARBEIRAREER
ARNEBRFZRIT WRTEBRZEERR
BR - AEBESER@INBEEFRBBEMHD
HEEEFRERNEORERBROER ¥
BTRITEHRZ12EAABREEER - REFY
BARX - RITEKRZIEAEREEBERAR
R BB

REEHFHRENTHEBERSEEFE R
HsBEBTFRINEERREER/SLTEKN

AEBNABEERBRFRFHEEATER:

Internal Financial assets
credit rating Description at amortised cost
REBERATEN
AEMEEFTR it MBEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12m ECL
any past-due amounts
1K = bz HFEANENRBEE  WEEAEPEE 128 AR BEEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full 12m ECL
BuELs BEHRALERINPREBEN BRE2HENE 128 AR REEE B
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL —
initial recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired
or external resources
7 &t BAABINIBERGHNER  TRIBVIFRBUARGCERAREZIEN 2PEHEEHE-
EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
BX BEXAZEEEHBREERE >HEREEEE -
BEERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off

1 55

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

BFRBRPABEBARNBEENMHEREL AN EEY BEROKDE RS
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TWMIE(E)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBREENE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREFINASBAETHEBEEBETHNT®
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL EEMNEERRE:
assessment:
2023 2022
—ECZZ=F —E-CF
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount  allowance
128528
ABEETR ABEETER BHEEER EHAE HERHBE HEAE FBEEG

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TET

Financial assets
at amortised cost

BREMATENTEEE
Debt investments measured N/A Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 33,866 5,919 29,184 7,232
RERRATECEBRE TER B b 12EAEREESSR
Other receivables and deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 4,524 786 15,107 -
Hi BB kRS TER igENE 1218 AR HA
FEF#R
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired 20,164 14,115 26,365 12,418
TER R 2HEACERSE
-EEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired 300 300 300 300
TEA Bx PHESREEER
—EERE
Bank balances Baa 2 or above N/A 12m ECL 24,655 - 4,515 -
RITHE R Baa 23k A & TEA 1218 A 7R HA
FEFR
Deposits at other financial N/A Low risk 12m ECL
institutions 2,930 - 6,334 -
REMSBEENTR A igEN 1218 AR H

B
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

6. SR ITH(E)
FERRERETE (&)
TRIRERRB U A B HBEERR

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

that has been recognised for financial assets measured at BIERE 2K
amortised cost:
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Lifetime Lifetime
12m ECL ECL ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
P B2 :1:) M3
128 A B 2HEE 2H%EH
FEER FEFR FEER @t
(BEEHE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEx T THT THT
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FWNA—H 3,820 9,450 15,380 28,650
Changes due to financial instruments ERAREHIAESY

recognised: 25

- Transfer —HE - - - -
Impairment losses recognised BERREFE 3,412 2,968 - 6,380
Impairment losses reversal (note) AEBEERE (M) - - (15,080) (15,080)
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-ZE-Zf#=ZA=+-HE

“ZE-—#pA—H 7,232 12,418 300 19,950
Changes due to financial instruments ERARSMIAEEY

recognised: 2%

- Transfer —HE - - - -
Impairment losses recognised ERAREER 4,434 1,697 - 6,131
Impairment losses reversal AEBEZE (4,961) - - (4,961)
As at 31 March 2023 R-BE-=f=A=+-H 6,705 14,115 300 21,120




FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Jetland Global Investments
Limited (“Jetland”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has
made an impairment on the outstanding receivable for disposal of
investment in Help U Credit Limited of HK$15,080,000. In April 2020,
Jetland issued a statutory demand against the debtor to recover the
same amount. In June 2020, the debtor took out the application to set
aside the statutory demand in High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“the Court”). His application was dismissed
in December 2020. The debtor appealed the High Court decision
and placed the disputed sum together with legal costs, totalling
HK$15,365,000 (the “Sum”) into the Court, and the Sum would be paid
out to Jetland in the event that the appeal is dismissed based on a
Court order. The appeal was dismissed in October 2021. Accordingly,
the reversal of impairment of HK$15,080,000 is recognised in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Sum was fully received.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet
their payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their
strategy, management would consider the financing of the
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2023, the liquidity
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one
year or on demand (2022: within one year or on demand).
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eWMIA (&)
EERBREENE (&)
B 5E

REBEZE_ZT_FEF=—A=+T—BLEFE X2
7] K 2 & B B A 7 Jetland Global Investments
Limited ([Jetland ) Bt HERE AP BER L
AIRYR E M AR UFRIBE L 15,080,000 7T A RL(E
NZZE-_ZTFMA  Jetland AIEBHAZEHEAER
BE UHEZESE- RZTTF A BHA
MAESFNTERESER (DER])REHE -
ERBWEZEZTREE - RoPFFER_ZE_TF
T AREE -EHAHSFEROEARLE £
o 30 R SRR AR E R A 2 B A $£5115,365,000
BT ([RIE]) REER - Mz ERRBIAR &
LB - AIFRIE A X T Jetland © B B8 £ AF
ERZZZ—FTAEBE -Eit - HEZD
15,080,000 LEREE T -_—_F=A=1+—
HEFENBEZTER RBEE-_E-_=F=A4

=t HLEFE FRACDEFHKD -
RBESERE

MENE [ 15 AN R B N B 7S B B B AR R B
THEMBAERANREFEZEAR -KNEEE

BEFTRZEEARFEERBSRETAR
E%fﬁi/ﬁggfi/m@ﬁiﬂﬁ““ °

?fﬁ%@fﬁ@jﬁ@@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%'ZKE.H%L%%&EE%
EEMEERERNEBERRERN KT
EEE@ET%W%E%H%%EK%@“%/ﬁiﬂZﬁﬂiﬁ
IAREEERIBRECREREZENTE RN
—EZ=F=ZA=t—H FrEBEZRBESE
ZHORNE DR R EEHMANRERE
TeEREEETINHAERKEBARERE
BEITREBEMBODETEE -

AEBEVBABERBEHRERKZHRTAOH
TR—FERAXBRERBEE(ZFT_—_F:—F
ARRBRKEE) (REANAFRRAASRE
RAEBEASXNRBZZFABRE) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

7. RVEEE

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFAEZLAEEH
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis KEEAFE
At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had following RZBEZ=FrRZT__F=A=+—H"
financial instruments carried at fair value all of which AEEEUTERMIA HERATEERG
are based on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair E2E B BE_RRE=FURFENEK:
value hierarchy:
2023 2022
—E-= —T-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Level 1: M—ﬁ& :
Financial assets at FVTPL NEBEFABREZHMBEE
— listed equity investments *L MR ARRE 132,546 148,345
Level 3: B4
Financial assets at FVTPL NEPEFABREZHMBEEE
— unlisted equity investments —?«EL MR AR & 6,611 15,486
139,157 163,831

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AREBZHEREEEHHLEE ALK
EHREEREDE AERZ AR 28 A
FEE o

A BT B A R T B R T A S 3R
EHRIE R 2 ATENE - TRBIIAM
SEMBAERMBRARZ AT ENAE
(RIS A PR (A R R 8 A B
ZE R
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥EFTE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
Financial assets 2023 2022 hierarchy  technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FABR
Y| BAgER
HBEE ZE-=Zf ZTCZZF DYEER  fERW BEGAHE NYEZHE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THR TR
Unlisted equity investments 6,611 15,486 Level 3 Discount cash flow with future Free cash flow The higher of the free
classified as equity cash flows that are estimated cash flow, the higher
investments at FVTPL based on expected recoverable of the fair value, vice
amounts, discounted at rates versa
that reflect management’s best
estimation of the expected risk
level
PEABULTEHABREZ 6,611 15,486 £=1 AXBERERBERARTNEEE EBBLRE BEASNEMA AT
RARE 23k EARAR fREHNERRENE NRRY BEBA
EREHRARBKT 251
fhEt 2z L EER
Discounted rate that ~ The higher of the
correspond to the discount rate, the
expected risk level lower of the fair value,
vice versa
HEEHRRKTz  HRXEA ATES)D
HRx
Listed equity investment 132,546 148,345 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
classified as equity market
investments at FVTPL
PERNATEHARER 132,546 148,345 £~ REMSEAR TER TER
LBEAREZ FARARE
In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity HEFFELTRABRENAFTER  A2FF
investments, the management of the Company work BEEBRFEBARARE I MHIE - #LE
closely with International Valuation Limited to establish EfMERMEZERA 2B ASER - AAFE
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the BERSEHREMHRANEFERARLER U
model. The management of the Company reports the REAFTERSHZRA-

findings to the directors at the end of each reporting
period to explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFAEZLAEEH
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEERAFE (&)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements EZRAFEAEHRE

Unlisted equity
securities
classified
as equity

investments at

FVTPL
PEAUNFE
FTABREZ
BEREZ
FETBRAES
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWMA—H 24,140
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity ARAFEFABREREZELTRARE Z
investments at FVTPL REBBEEETFRE (8,654)
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E - F=ZA=1t—"HEZ-ZZE-__FWWA—H 15,486
Disposal & (6,500)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AT EFABRREZELTRARE Z
investments at FVTPL REIR BT (2,375)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=HA=+—H 6,611
Of net unrealised loss on unlisted equity investments at RUAATFEFAEREZIFLTRAKRE
FVTPL, all (2022: all) relates to unlisted equity securities ZAREBRERFHES 2 (T __F:
classified as equity investments at FVTPL held at the ) HEARERRFENDERART
end of the current reporting period. Bt \BRBEZBRAKRE 2 ETRAE

»EE-
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AFEFE (&)
(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at (i) ¥FAAFEFEZEMIAZAFE

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not

materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 due to their short-term maturities.

8. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

RZBEZ_=FR-_F-__F=R=+—H
NEHEAARIEN AR BN B EE R WE
BECEEERAATEREERZR &
EHTEE AN A

8. Wz

AEE 2 WaE R EMBRADHTOT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FHET
Revenue: s -

Dividend income from equity investments A AFEFABEERZBEAKE

at FVTPL Z BB A 124 203
Interest income from debt investments REHKATNEZEBREZ

at amortised cost B U A 2,622 3,090
Interest income from other receivables o fEWORIB 2 B E WA 846 1,185
Interest income from brokers [ E SN ON —* —
Interest income from bank accounts RITF 2 FE WA —* —*
3,592 4,478

*

Amount less than HK$1,000

ZFETE 1,000 T
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10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
executive director, being the chief operation decision maker,
considers that these activities constitute one and the only
business segment since these transactions are subject to
common risks and returns. The executive directors monitors
the operating results of its investment business as a whole
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the
Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure, major customers and
geographical information are presented.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Information about major customers
Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers

as determined by the Group.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HIFE
DEHER
BHE_Z_=FR-ZF__F=A=+—HIL*#F
B ANEEKE &%ZEEEEPKQ&Q? & 2 # 2
WARBEWA -ITES (BIEELERE %)

RE BRZERZEAZHRRE R HEE = F it
ZEEYENE -—RME—EBOR - RNITESFE
REBBEEEB IKEXEUERERS LR
RRTFHEE AT ERAEELEE—DHH
EBNE SRV BERBIBREESBOMER
TR

Hit EZ27ERFE T2EPRIBEEFR -

#h & &R
REE-_Z_=Fr_FT_—_F=A=+—HL
FE-AEEMBEBHEREBET MAEE
ZHBRENRESE - At BEZIIRER
BEMNMEDTER -

ERTEEFNESR
ENAEERLEEBUEENRERER RAEHE
BE ARBEYERBIERFPNER -

10. AHEEBFREXTHRERSE (B

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BRIEME)
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) on BATEB®ER(BE) ZFERE:
— Other receivables — E b jE W FRIA 2,483 (12,112)
— Debt investments measured —REBEKAFTTEZ
at amortised costs BBIRE (1,313) 3,412
1,170 (8,700)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

BB RT il 5 B BT L6 o
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. REATER

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Loss before tax has been arrived at B AT B IR AR (BT A)
after charging/(crediting): ITIBE&EH:
Directors’ remunerations ExWe
— Fees —8e 940 1,020
— Basic salaries and other benefits —EXH e RHEMET 80 -
— Retirement benefits scheme —RKBAIEE 4 -
— Equity-settled share-based payments —AREEEURD BER Z AR 940 1,398
Total directors’ remunerations BEEWE 1,964 2,418
Staff costs BIKA
— Basic salaries and other benefits —EXFeREMET 591 674
— Equity-settled share-based payments — AR E AR RER 2K 3,541 3,835
— Retirement benefits scheme —RK@HIETE 25 32
Total staff costs B TRA
(excluding directors’ remunerations) (T"EREEEWL) 4,157 4,541
Auditors’ remuneration % BRI B & 480 460
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG RE 45 E AR 0 B E T 2 (3K
(included in directors’ remunerations and (EEREELiEEe &
staff costs above) BTITRKA) 4,481 5,233
Investment manager fee SEKIEE A 720 720
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEEEBERX 90 90
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12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on margin financing wholly BRERFBHEEZ
repayable on demand REZBENE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z = =HA=+—HItFE

12. @& KA
2023 2022
—E=-= =~
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAET
485 493

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for the Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group either incurred tax loss or has no assessable profit
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

13. FiIBSHER

HE T =ZFR-_FT-__F=ZA=+—HILF
B BARASEYEELEHEEETERGRER
Foad MW EEHEEFNSRHEE-

REEBFEHZFEHMAS FEARNE
& %8 52,000,000 7T 89 5 FIl 89 B & 58.25%
i i 82,000,000 7T & 4 F1| 89 7t % 516.5% © T
FENESHMAFNERNEEER SR GEER
B — B R16.5% B4 »

EXERRERBTANEHR ZMNEHMARHIL &
CEREREMBRRYEEABRE MEFE
M E B NS R AR ERTUE N 216.5% & -
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13. FIBHER (&)
FERBX LA HERRATBERERAOT  PIERA
BMETIAR R T RENB AR Z M ELEENS

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax using the statutory tax rate for the Hong Kong

Profits Tax in which the Company and its subsidiaries are 2 EEB
domiciled is as follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Loss before tax MR AT E 18 (41,152) (7,018)
Tax at the statutory tax rate RAEEMEFHEZHIE (6,790) (1,158)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBS 2 BT 28
for tax purposes 7,862 3,205
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBWAZ BB E (825) (2,597)
Utilisation of deductible temporary AR AERZAINREFERE
differences previously not recognised - (18)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARG BE B B2 - 568
Utilisation of tax loss previously )RS AI AR 2B EE
not recognised (247) _
Tax credit for the year FEMREER - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$476,625,000 (2022:
HK$478,120,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary difference of approximately HK$377,847,000 (2022:
HK$345,237,000) arising from the net unrealised loss on
financial assets held for trading. No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised.

PSR B R A SR I - NS B A A) 8 R 2RO F
ZARE B E IR Y B476,6250008 L (= F
T T4 478,120,000/ 7T.) © M A oK 0w B &
ETEM M ER M EFEN G ERERE
EFIBEE -FIBRERBEEIEH ] LAERH
ko

RREABERKE NEBEBEREEREL
WHEEZASZREBEBIREAZANBY
B = %8 4 5377,847,0008 T (T — — & :
345,237,000 7T.) © F A K A Bkt AT 0 B A
EREEUS FER T & A EHR - SR B st B BE AT 40
MEREEERECHIBEEE -
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14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2022: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$41,152,000 (2022: HK$7,018,000) and the weighted
average number of 376,686,000 (2022: 308,917,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2023 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2023.

14.

15.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z = =HA=+—HItFE

iR =

BHEZ=F=ZA=+—HBILFE TERAK
RAEBEBERRNHEZZ RS BHEH
REWEZFZRNEMRE (ZF-_—F &) -

BREE
BREAREEFIENRBEARRHEAE ABILE
841,152,000/ L (== = =4 : 7,018,000/ 7T )
R R 2 B 817 & 8 AR 0 #E T 19 81376,686,000
B (—Z = —4:308,917,0000%) 5t & -

HEHE TN FE-_—FZA=+—H
LHFENSRESHEESUEBSR AR BRE
B AABREREETESERHEHE-_S ==
FR-_T_=FZAZ+—HUEFENERER
D e
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F
%5'1-\ é‘ /E\Z" f['% $ﬁ %% MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 #iZ — T - =F=A=+—HI-FE
16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EER T EABREHEEMS
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383 of BEEBQAAKA(EABEZ+TZF)E
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the TANTZKRERAR (BRESHZER) R
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of (BRBZtTZGE)REZESFTHMNOT:
Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:
(a) Directors (a) EE
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the EEEARRAIERN M ETOT
Company during the years are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHEIT
Fees we
Executive director WITES 280 360
Non-executive directors FHITESE 300 300
Independent non-executive directors B IFHITEE 360 360
940 1,020
Other emoluments E b B
Basic salaries and other benefits EARF e RHEMEFR 80 -
Equity-settled share-based ARR #E 4 AR (0 B E B 2 TR
payments 940 1,398
Retirement benefits scheme RORAE B E 4 -
1,024 1,398
1,964 2,418
No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments FATHEZEREXRERETMAME - I8
and no emoluments were paid to the directors as BOESEITHE ARSI BEEMBELREE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SEAMBRE RS NBRAE (222

compensation for loss of office during the year (2022: nil). FoE) o
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EER T AR HEEMS (&)
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E= (#)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2022: ENSERTFARB(ZEZZF "R ESE
six) directors are as follows: EBEZHE0T:
2023 2022
“E-=f -—Z--F
Basic Equity-
salaries seftled  Retirement
and other  share-hased benefits Total Total
Fees benefits payments scheme emoluments  emoluments
DREEE
ErEe  URHAE RIK

#e  REMEN FANES BEE Heas Hews
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TEn TERL

Executive director BiTES

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZEAE 280 80 470 4 834 1,059
Non-executive directors kHTES

Mr. Wu Qi REXE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek hRRRE 180 - 470 - 650 879
Sub-total It 300 - 470 - 770 999

Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES

Mr. Luk Simon ERERE 120 - - - 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ABEat 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BREE 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total N 360 - - - 360 360

Total ek 940 80 940 4 1,964 2,418
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors (continued)

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive director are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2022: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2022: two) individuals were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZ—Z = =HA=+—HItFE

16. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

(a) E= (&)
XNFRTEEZH S RMNEVDNER
AZEALTRBEBARBTRENE QA
ZEBER 2 EAMIRG M — RS R EW
ZME -

(b) EEBREHESR
AEEBLEESFREET ME (2T
FZR)ARRRQARESZ HS 2 HMN Lt
DM -HEB=ZF(ZTZZF WE)AAZ
BT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Basic salaries and other benefits EAXFE RHMEF 36 674
Retirements benefits scheme ROKAEFI T2 - 32
Equity-settled share-based payments LA #E 4 E LA D AEMR 2 3 1,328 -
1,364 706

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T

URTIMeHE s RS HESABLT

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-
3 2

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2022: Nil).

RAFE - W8\ %S E A B S A R3S
HEMBAEENKIEAMBR 2 HE R
BEE( T _—F:8\)-
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. LAFEFABRERZBREARE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
—E_-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Non-current ERE
Unlisted equity investments outside BERINZIELMRAIRE
Hong Kong 6,611 15,486
Current mE
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong BAZ ETRAKE 132,546 148,345
139,157 163,831

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$18,206,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$31,508,000) to secure margin payables as disclosed in
note 12.

As at 31 March 2023, the net fair value loss in respect of the
Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately HK$32,610,000 (2022: gain of
HK$112,000), and a net gain of approximately HK$1,817,000
(2022: net loss of HK$455,000) was recognised upon disposal
of the listed equity investments for the year.

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately HK$144,815,000.

ZELMEFZRAFEDRESERERARZAA
BWBHEABETE FHMME12MKE T &
BN _—_Z_=F=—R=+—HZ2KEEBELY
18,206,000/%8 7t ( == = — 4 : 31,508,000/ 7t )
ZETUARTFEFABREEZVBEEERR
ERENRESZ ZEMGE -

RZEZ=F=ZA=+—H XEBERER
MRZEBLMEBEZATFEBRIELNA
32,610,000/ T (=& = — 4F : g 35112,000/%
) BERFALREETRAKRERER KR
FREH1,817,0008 L (ZE ZZF  BEFE
455,000/ 7T ) ©

RLEZSEFBREZAS AEE 2 FHRA
& 2 H1E4) A144,815,000/8 7T °
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the

Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place/country of Percentage of
Name of investee incorporation/ effective
companies establishment Number of share held interest held
AL/
ERENREH RuY/ B fisRHER FEERESAAL
2023 2022 2023 2022
—“8-ZE -E--F -EC=E -E-o-E
Peak Zone Group Limited  British Virgin Islands - 2,500 - 25%
(note a)
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ XER%EHSE
(Wita)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 28,000 2% 28%
(note b)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ £EZ %7 #E
(//%JE\[’/\
Notes:
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”), a private company with

limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of integrated application. As disclosed in note 4,
the Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Peak Zone.
Accordingly, investment in Peak Zone has been classified as
financial asset at FVTPL. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group disposed of its 25% equity interests in Peak Zone at
a consideration of HK$6,500,000, of which HK$4,500,000 was
yet to be settled and recognised as other receivables as at 31
March 2023.

Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not been in
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly,
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified as financial
asset at FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

AEEFHF 2 EEE EHRAES

(TRFIAARE

BN _E_=FR-_FT__F=-A=+—HZ10

HERKRIRE (MK E19P7 4

B))ZEBmT:

Net assets
attributable to
At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments
RHA LYEDE ROTE REBLEERE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Z§-=F -%--F ZCZBC=E -Z--fF ZBCZE -E--F ZBIZE -E--
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn T Tz T Tz TExL Tz TiEn
- 75,000 - (68,500) - 6,500 - 4970
20,000 20,000 13,389 (11,866) 6,611 8,134 1472 8,409
BiEt -
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak Zone ] —
MABREAAFT)LEMBARATER FRE
EREREIER MM 4T B FR - AN B
Peak Zone 2 B 715 RS E B R ITEEME RN
2o Al A Peak Zone 2R EE D EAURTF
B ABRRBEE-HE-_T_=4=A
=+ —HILFE KNEEHEPeak Zone 25% 2
Pt KB 75'56 500,000/ 7T - H #14,500,000/% 7T
MAREERR E_=F=A=T—HERARH
ftb FE L W\IE o
(b) Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent

Alliance ] - —RFLABREE AR REKBE A A
FERZBHERG HEFREERREHEE
B o AN AR R Zﬁ%llﬂﬁProminent
Alliance B BT 18 I 48 & BURTT{EE M ERFE -
It » AProminent Alliance 2R EE N EAURA $
Bt ABRIEZHBEE-

141



142

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
B B R B E &£ B B R A 7|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2023, which are also included in the list of the
10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2023, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follow:

Place/country Number of Percentage of

Name of investee company of incorporation  share held interest held
ERALBE/ igsd: 53
ERENAER S fERG#A Aatt
'000
T
WLS Holdings Limited (nofe c) Bermuda 534,110 3.72%
ERZRERAF (Mitc) BRE
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (nofe &) Cayman Islands 11,020 0.95%
hEERRRERARAA (Hite) RS
SunCorp Technologies Limited (nofe f) Bermuda 18,940 1.23%
HRRBARAR (i) BRE
Kingland Group Holdings Limited (note g) Cayman Islands 40,290 5.00%
RBEERRERLR (Hig) RS
SEEC Media Group Limited (nofe h) Cayman Islands 7,451 1.01%
HREREEAERAR (Hith) )
Power Financial Group Limited (nofe d) Bermuda 120,010 4.31%
EReREEERAA (Hid) BRE
Milan Station Holdings Limited (nofe /) Cayman Islands 31,996 3.63%

KHEERARRR (i) REEHS

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

RZTEZ=F=A=+—H AEEFENEZ
FHRAES (TIALEBR T =_=F=A
=+—HZ10EZKKE (WHF19PT#E) ) &
BT

Accumulated

unrealised Net assets/ Dividend
holding (liabilities) received/
gain (loss) attributable receivable
arising on to the during
Cost  revaluation Market Value  investment the year
EffREER
25t RER R&
BREH EiEEE/ FABYW/
RA (E#8) wE  (BE)FE EURE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

78,840 (43,589) 35,251 18,959 -
9,465 (5,553) 3,912 963 -
43,746 (38,727) 5,019 2,505 -
6,776 (1,941) 4,835 413 -
5,055 (1,106) 3,949 2,197 -
38,437 (19,355) 19,082 61,082 -
9,146 (4,315) 4,831 4,092 -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual

report are as follows:

(c)

(e)

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8021).
engaged in the Provision of scaffolding, fitting out and

WLS is principally

other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work,
money lending business, securities investment business and
assets management business. For the year ended 30 April
2022, the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners
of WLS was HK$10,818,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of HK$0.075 cents. As at 31 October 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$487,187,000.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 397).
Power Financial is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Power Financial was HK$171,280,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$6.15 cents. As at 31
December 2022, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to owners was HK$1,417,222,000.

Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (“Asia Grocery”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8413). Asia Grocery is principally engaged in provision of food
and beverage grocery distribution and provision of food catering
services through restaurants in Hong Kong. For the year ended
31 March 2023, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of Asia Grocery was HK$4,408,000 with basic and
diluted loss per share of HK$0.379 cents. As at 31 March 2023,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$97,007,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HItFE

17. LAV EFABRSERZBRARE (&)

Brat

REEHERE LM ARRMMTIEZFH ZEQT

ZEBEMBEMBENT
(c) ERZERERQE (DEEEER])NHASESEM
KRB BERREINABREFEZBRRA

(d)

(e)

H R D B 22T GEM £ (AR 9 5% - 8021) < JE
BERFENFAEERBZETRREMESLZE.
RBEEREMEERSE MEXL BFHKREE
BREEEBEK BE_T-__FmMA=1+AH
HFE - EREREEABLEEZRGEBER
10818000%7{:’HXEZK&T%%JEHEEOO?S%
e R=ZF=Z=ZF+A=+—H HBEAEAEMHLR
#«%V,mAéiFma?%%? 187,000/ 7L

REcMEEARAR ([REem])NERE
MK AEREARAR ERMHNEZHAE
mROHRE:397) HEEMEZRES AR
B EEERERBENRRE-BHE-_Z=_=F
TZAZ=+—HALFE BEERIEEARE
15T Z IR 6 K518 5171,280,000%8 7T - B ik &
AR EBEACASEWN- R_TE=-_-_F+=A
ZS+—H HEBEBEABLEERGAEEFER
1,417,222,0008 7T °

DNMEERAR (TEMNEE]) RHASES M
KL ABARDT - ERGARERZHAMGEM £ (R
DR :8413) DMNHEFTEEEERERLK
FREEDHEB R BBERIRHE KRR &
E-T-_-F-A=-+—HLEFE DMNEEZ
HEANEBIEEEZEE EER4,408,0008 T &
% 7R K B E B 48 80,3797 Il - EA,Q,:EE
A=1+—RH HEBEEABELKEREKEEEFE
/497,007,000 7T °

143



144

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

B E

R B & & B B R ~ 37

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma MR E

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

SunCorp Technologies Limited (“SunCorp”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1063). SunCorp is principally engaged
in processing and trading of computer-related components,
provision of securities brokerage, placing and underwriting
services, money lending service and sales of clothes and
beauty product. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of SunCorp
was HK$56,992,000 with basic loss per share of HK$3.74 cents.
As at 31 December 2022, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$203,659,000.

Kingland Group Holdings Limited (“Kingland”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares have been listed in the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1751). Kingland is principally engaged
in the provision of concrete demolition services in Hong Kong
and Macau mainly as a subcontractor. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of Kingland was HK$9,032,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$1.12 cents. As at 31 December 2022,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$8,263,000.

SEEC Media Group Limited (“SEEC”) is incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange. SEEC is principally engaged in the provision of
advertising agency services and distribution of books and
magazines in the People’s Republic of China, and securities
brokerage, money lending services and provision of e-commerce
platform services and sales of high tech products in Hong Kong.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of SEEC was HK$82,473,000 with
basic and diluted loss per share of HK$0.13 cents. As at 31
December 2022, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to owners was HK$217,498,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z = =HA=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

Wizt (%)

)

MERRERAR ([FR)RAagEITMKR LA
BHeAR AR EROPBRER LM (K&K
RE55:1063) - FEEZRERENEEE KA
B REEFFCL BERBERE  MERS
RiEERERERER - HE-_T-__F+=A8
=+ ALFE FRESABGEEXRAE
18 456,992,000/ 7t - T E A K #5E E5 18 £3.74
Bll-R—ZT-—F+-A=+—H HEEARE
14 T iz tn & & 7 F1E /5203,659,00078 7T ©

SBMEBERARAR ([RE])RFASES M
B RBER R AR QR HARHDRERZFTGEM £
mRGHRIE:1751) BB EZEADBEANE
BRRMARERRIFEORE B2

TZAZ=T—HILFE SBEAABIGLERZ
A E 18 /9,032,000 0 BEREARBEEIE
BB - R -_E-—F+-_A=+—0 H#&
BANEL S E GRS EEFE /8,263,000 7T

MAEEEEERAB (MMl RHEHEF
ML ABRBRETRNEREFEZBER AR
HROARBZM LT M EZXBHREPEA
REMBARHEBEERERE RO HES KM
UREBEEREFFELER REXBRIEHE
BEFEBTFARBEURFEERNRER BHEZ
T F+ A=+ BLEE FAMBEEA
FEAR 4 B iz 4R A 5 18 A82,473,000%8 7T - B R E
AR EBEERIAIEBIN- RZTE=-_=_F+=A
=S+—H HEBABGMEERGEEAEFZER
217,498,000 T °
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18.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) Milan Station Holdings Limited (“Milan”) incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 1150).
Milan is principally engaged in retailing of handbags, fashion
accessories, embellishments and spa and wellness products.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of Milan was HK$45,855,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$6.07 cents. As
at 31 December 2022, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$112,718,000.

U]

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZ—Z = =HA=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

Wizt (%)

R ERAR AR (KHE]) ARFE ST
RIZBRRA MERNDREBHERIMAE
RARE™M(BMHARE 1150) KB EBHREF
KRHEEH R REKERRBERMTE -H
BT __F+_A=+—BULEE KEES
A FE(L & F 1% 45 & 65 18 /545,855,000 70 B R
EAREEBEACOTEN - R =ZF+=
B=+—R HEEBABEKERGAEETFE
/112,718,000 7T ©

DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. REER AT EZBERE
AMORTISED COST
2023 2022
—E-=fF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F#&IT
Unlisted debts securities (note) FELEMEBES (M) 32,000 27,000
Interest receivables JE UL F B 1,866 2,184
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBERE (5,919) (7,232)
27,947 21,952
Analysed as: DA
Current i) 10,724 12,177
Non-current FERH 17,223 9,775

27,947 21,952
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As at 31 March 2023, the unlisted debts securities represented
unlisted bonds with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 and
HK$12,000,000 (2022: HK$15,000,000 and HK$12,000,000) issued by
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (‘Hao Wen”) and China 33 Media Group
Limited (“China 33 Media”) respectively, both of the companies listed
in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the unlisted bonds with
principal amount of HK$12,000,000 issued by Hao Wen was fully
received and the Group newly invested in unlisted bonds with principal
amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by Hao Wen, which are unsecured,
carried interest at 5.5% per annum and matured in 5 years. Hao Wen
is principally engaged in the money lending, processing and trading
of electronic parts, provision of beauty treatment Services and sale of
burial plots and related services and cemetery maintenance service.

Unlisted bonds issued by China 33 Media are unsecured, carried
interest at 12% per annum and matured in 3 years. China 33 Media
principally engaged in the provision of outdoor and digital advertising
services, film and entertainment investment, prepaid card business
and provision of printed media advertising services.

The movements in the loss allowance for credit losses of debt
investments measured at amortised cost are as follows:

BB kR B E &K B B R ~ F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%',;'—: ’é‘ /E\ZI' i%ﬁ %:z MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE= — T - =F=A=+—HIFE
18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. RBERARTE2EBRE (&)
AMORTISED COST (continued)
Note: Wt -

RZTEZ=F=—A=1T—H FLmEBEFED
HEBLTRARASXERER AR ([#EX]) RFE
CZHEBEEBEERAR([FRA=Z=ZFH])HTHES
#8 /20,000,000 7T 512,000,000 L ( =T = =
15,000,000/% 7T 512,000,000/ 7C) 2 JE E (&5 ©

BE T —F=-RF=+—-HILFE rEESKIE
X FTEAT A2 %8 7312,000,000/8 T 2 #3E LT ESF T
HTIE IR A S SCFT 31T AN £ %8 7320,000,000/8 TR 3E £ TR
B REEHFRERN F 5 £5.6/F M5F & &R - if
NEIBHERE EFEHXMHMNIRES REXEE
I AR DA R 35 BB MR B RS B B b i e AR o

PRE=Z=EEABETHFLTESAEER  FHFE12
ER3FRER TR ==EREIEREREPIRE
FEERE EFRRLKRE AN REFRREFE
RRESRE -

R A B2 IR A 2 R R AR BRE
BEBHIT:

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At the beginning of the reporting period Rk s B9 7,232 3,820
Impairment losses, net REBEFE (1,313) 3,412
At the end of the reporting period REEHKR 5,919 7,232

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The above investment in the bonds issued by Hao Wen
and China 33 Media are included in the list of 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2023, as disclosed
in note 19.

BB RS BT AE6 o

B EI9MRE EXREEXRFE==
BRBETZEFFTARNEBER _T_=F=H
=T -BZTRERESRE
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS
HELD BY THE GROUP
Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZ—Z = =HA=+—HItFE

19. X KBRFETEREZHE

BEETRNE21I1N2EZ2BTE AEERER =
TR E__F-A=+—HEESAAKX
EEEERBES % 2BHREER R&ED10EK
ARKREEBWT

Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as

at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2023

As at investee companies

HRELH

Equity investments:

WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c))

Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(d))
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (note 17(e))
SunCorp Technologies Limited (note 17(f))
Kingland Group Holdings Limited (note 17(g))
SEEC Media Group Limited (note 17(h))
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b))

Milan Station Holdings Limited (note 17(i))

Debt investments:
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18)
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18)

BARE

EREBRBRAR (Fi217(c))
REEREERRAR (Mit17(d))
TMNEEBRDR (Hit17(e))
MHERBEBRAR (M17())
SHEEERERAR (Hit17(9))
MAEEEEAERRRE (Hit17(n))
Prominent Alliance Limited (#/7217(b))
RBUIERBR AT (ME17())

BERE:
WX ERERRTE (HiE18)

R-E-_=5=R=+—H
Dividend/
Interest
Cost Fair value received
2 IE
R AYE RE/FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FHET
78,840 35,251 -
38,437 19,082 -
9,465 3,912 -
43,746 5,019 -
6,776 4,835 -
5,055 3,949 -
20,000 6,611 -
9,146 4,831 -
20,870 17,233 -
12,995 9,401 -

RE=Z=EREEFRAE (H:218)
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

As at 31 March 2022

-

R-ZBE-Z-f=A=+-—H

=F=-A=t—HILHFE

19. X KBFRHFEEREZHE (&)

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2
BIREAR R A DFE BE/FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FET FET
Equity investments: BRERE:
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) ERERER AR (Hi17(c)) 77,406 24,966 -
Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(d)) EEeREBAERRR (Hit17(d) 38,437 17,281 -
Youth Champ Financial Group Holdings BRlemEBRERERATA
Limited 7,820 11,500 -
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited TEERTNEEERAR 37,276 8,252 -
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#7:£17(b)) 20,000 8,134 -
Wealth Glory Holdings Limited EEERARAR 2,765 7,211 -
Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a)) Peak Zone Group Limited (#7:#17(a)) 75,000 6,500 -
Milan Station Holdings Limited (note 17(i)) KB ERBB AR (MEE17() 9,160 6,473 -
Debt investments: BEHERE:
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) HEXERBR AR (H1518) 15,000 12,177 1,650
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18) HE==EEEEERAT (HiF18) 12,000 9,775 1,440
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HhEWRE -ERRERERSE
DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—E-=4F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Other receivables H b E I FR B 9,763 29,027
Deposits paid [RENE & 24 27
Financial assets MBEE 9,787 29,054
Prepayments T IR 19 32
9,806 29,086
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWFIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as LA 72 75 52 [ 3t L fth B s SR TE e aR 2 IS 1B 4
follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FEIT
Other receivables H b E N FRIA 24,964 41,745
Loss allowance E BB (15,201) (12,718)
Net impairment losses on other receivables = fib g Y 7K I8 7 5l {8 B 18 7% 28 9,763 29,027
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other HEtERRIBEzEREEBE GEBEBEZH N
receivables are as follows: ™~
2023 2022
—EC_=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R 25 HA ) 12,718 24,830
Impairment losses, net VERIEY k= be ik 2,483 (12,112)
At the end of the reporting period RS R 15,201 12,718

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6. BT EFFIEE A M 5E6 o
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20.

21.

22,

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z = =HA=+—HItFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWFIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed FillREEEERGEERXREREEL[TEH
as “impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net EEEBEBEEXNTHRERSE (CNERER)] -
of reversal” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of A& AR - JE R IE 4) /29,763,000 T (=&
approximately HK$9,763,000 (2022: HK$29,027,000 T =% :29,027,000%5 L) - FEEBRNBEFE D
represents the consideration receivable arising from the EMBARIMEBEIEEHRAKREEE Z EIK
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal B-ZEREAERR FMEERAR—FRE
of subsidiaries in prior years. The amounts are unsecured, iE o
carried interest at 5% and repayable within one year.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1. BERAEEEY
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash and bank balances RERIBITET 24,655 4,515
Deposits at other financial institutions R H Ath & B 2 K 2,930 6,334
27,585 10,849
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents RmEEHE HERE RS EYAEHEER
were denominated in a currency other than the functional ERCEEBUIINCEEEE-
currency of the relevant group entity.
The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01% BRZEBEFHNENF00MEE0TSE(ZF
to 0.75% (2022: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum and all of them TZF:0.01EXR05E) FIBETRRIREE
have a maturity within three months from initial inception. B9 =& A W AR -
MARGIN PAYABLES 22. BERRESE

Margin payables represents margin loans arising from the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on demand.
No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of margin payables.
In opinion of the directors, an ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the Group’s business nature.

Margin payables bear interest rates ranged from 8% to 9.13%
(2022: 8% to 15.25%) per annum for the year ended 31 March
2023.

FBNREZAEBELMRESIBZAREZENK
FRRESERAREREE TERENRE
ERBEREONM -BEZERA REITHLAEE
EHUEEmE TR mEMEE-

ERNREENEBE-_SE-_=F=A=+—HItHE
EZEMENFEEFEIZE (T - —F:8=
%£15.25[) o
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(@) On 19 July 2021,

the Company entered into the placing

agreement to issued and allot a maximum of 54,180,000 placing
shares of HK$0.001 each in the Company with Astrum Capital

Management Limited at a price of HK$0.30. The net proceeds

from the subscription would be used for the general working
capital of the Group and for future investments pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company. The placing of shares

has been completed on 10 August 2021.

(b) The Company issued and allot 65,000,000 placing shares of
HK$0.001 each in the Company with China Prospect Securities
Limited at a price of HK$0.26. The net proceeds from the
subscription would be used for the general working capital of
the Group and for future investments pursuant to the investment
objectives of the Company. The placing of shares has been

completed on 5 September 2022.

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each

other.

WRZBZ—FLtA+NAH ARAEMNGTFRE
RERBRAFG LA E W PA0.30B T Z(E
82517 N Bt 3 K A 7] £x %54,180,000/% & f%0.001
%EZ@E%J&V‘ RBERZAEHBFES A
EREBEZ —REZEES URBREARAZEK
EERAERRKRE - EERNHER T —F
NA+HZEK-

RAREAFABEREESABRADFL0.26E T 2B
817 & L 3 AN 2 7]65,000,0008% & A£0.0017%8 7T
ZEHRERD - REFHEZMERBEFEHAIER
SEZ-BREEES URREARARZIEEHR
BRERKEE RBERNERZT__FNA
A HFEK -

FECBTROBLERMETmESR RFHA -
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. R
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.001
each
BREE
0.001/8 T2
ZEREAE
000 HK$’000
F & FHEIT
Authorised: A
At 1 April 2021, at 31 March 2022 and R-Z-—fM@mA—H-
31 March 2023 ZTEZZHFZRA=+—-HR
—EB-=f=ZA=+—H 1,200,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE -
At 1 April 2021 R—ZE-_—FMA—A 270,917 271
Issue of shares under placement (note a) 1RIBERERITIRG (Hita) 54,180 54
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZEZZF=A=+—HK
—E- WA —H 325,097 325
Exercise of share options T8 B AR 22,500 23
Issue of shares under placement (note b) RIFEEETID (Hatb) 65,000 65
At 31 March 2023 R-BE-_=f=ZHA=+—H 412,597 413
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 24, BRESTE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 59,300,000 (2022: 49,300,000),
representing approximately 14.37% (2022: 15.16%) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 20% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

ARrEERESE ([ZAEDIRER ZF
—ZFNAZTABBBZRERTURS =
ZEAMDMEZERAEREBRIUE - RIEZ
AHECARFEFEENRAERER (BEARQ
AREMBARER) R TARBALBKN
R - UE N AR B A A RINRE =T E
B UWHEBHETARANEYH R -

RZEBEZ=F=A=+—H0 %:F&EBETHER
R TERARITEERENS RE RO EE
559,300,0000% ( == = = 4F : 49,300,000/% ) -
HERARREADEHTRMN Z414.37% (=
T "% :15.16%) cZArBIET AR L 2 BR
TEFTH R 2 B HR B R IE AR A IR R e it
Al REAE RS A S HBARQ R D ETRMD
20% - REM—FEE T RAIRFEMER AL
ZRBRBEMARIEBRTRETRTROHME L
REAATBEEZLERN  NERNFBHTSE
FIAADNR D BEITIRN Z1% °

BREANRKRHBRE21IBN N0 BRE
1B TTIM T LA A o 8 B i AT 00X L R A B
EERHANE _EABF I HEBERITE1TE
BERHEEFSET BITEERTIZESE ()
B REL A2 W E : (i) RO RERREA
HA A A %A 2 FHRHE: Ki)kihzm
@
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BRETTE (&)
Details of options granted to directors and employees on RZEZ—FN\AT_ABRTESEREEZER
12 August 2022 are as follows: BEFHBERT
Date of grant 12 August 2022 s gael=g- —TETZ—FNA+Z=H
Vesting period Immediate mEH Bnas
Exercise period 3 years from the date of grant 1715 88 BERHBEE=F
Exercise price HK$0.317 (8 0.3177% T
The following table discloses movement of the Company’s TEREBZEARNTDED KA 2 BIREY

share option granted and lapsed:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—4F
Number of Number of
share options share options
BREHE BRRESE
’000 000
T Fh
Outstanding at the beginning of RSB ARITE
the reporting period 49,300 22,500
Granted during the year FREED 32,500 26,800
Exercised during the year FRNBITHE (22,500) -
Outstanding and exercisable RS BRI ARITE XA TAT{E

at the end of the reporting period 59,300 49,300
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24.

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
22,500,000 of share options were exercised during the years
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). Accordingly, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise presented was
HK$0.33 (2022: Nil).

The fair value of share options granted on 7 August 2020,
11 August 2021 and 12 August 2022 was calculated using
Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the model

were as follows:

12 August 2022

Fair value HK$0.1445-HK$0.1362
Share price HK$0.2700
Exercise price HK$0.317
Expected volatility 106%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rate 2.644%
Expected dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3
years at the grant date. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised a total expense of HK$4,481,000
(2022: HK$5,233,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023 in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$196,631,000 (2022:
HK$209,715,000) by the number of shares in issue as at 31
March 2023, being 412,597,000 (2022: 325,097,000).

24,

25.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H &2 —Z-=F=fF=+—HIFE

EREE (&)
REBEEZZE-_=F=ZA=+—HBLEFE

22,500,000 R EETFE (ZTE__F:|) -
Ett - 250176 B 2 N F IR E A£0.338 T
ZEZZF T

R_ZE_ZTENALR ZZT=—FN\A+—H
RZBZ—FN\A+-_HAREBREATETD

ER_EANREETERAAE -ZBEREAzH
ABUEMT

—E-__F)\A+ZH
N 0.1445-0.1362% 7T
R (B 0.27007% 7T
TEE 0.317%8 7T
TE R 1B 106%
78 57 4 59 =%
5 B | & 2.644%
TEEARR 8 & £

RIRH BB ERREDEBERAARRARNBE
ZFZBRERLREEE - R TR A F Y
EREZZ&EMGBFHAR URRTATEE
M TERFRTAEEERR-

REENBE-_E-_—H=-A=+—BIEEH
RN AR 2 B R M RE AR A S 48 %64,481,00008
(ZZT =% :5,233,000/6 7T ) °

4l

BREEFE
EREEFENBGEEVBRARAME 2
B EFE#H196,631,00008 T (—Z T - — 4
209,715,000 L) B AR TS -_=ZF = A=+ —
HE TS E412,597,0001 (Z T ==
325,097,0004% ) £ 13 ) °
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEAERS

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group had entered into the following transactions with the
investment manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the
directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

HE T =8 _T-—F=ZA=+—HILHFE
B AEBEREBRELCETINUNTRS &
ERB UERZIRAEEBEFEBRIERIZ
R EREST

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Investment manager’s fee: Tﬁ;ﬁmﬁg’ﬁﬁ :

Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited EE X% %4 (&%) AR QA A 720 720
Total gt 720 720

Note: Bt iz -

The Company entered into a investment management agreement
with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) effective on 8 December 2020.

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$60,000 and payable monthly in advance.

The Investment Manager shall be deemed as a connected person of
the Company pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the
agreement becoming effective. The transactions are considered a de
minimis transactions under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreement is in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
shareholders of the Company are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ARNARZEZEF+_ANBHHEREFS(HH)E
AR ([EELE T LIREE R -

REKEBERENEAEEE60,0008 T RANT A
A2 A o

Rz ERE RELEIBRE EHRAE21.13
BB RARRAEAL - RE EHRAE14A7615
ZERGUERTAREHRPKFINRS -

ARARBUFATESRALABREETBHETS
ARl EMNZE WRARRBEEBBRFRETHE
BRETL MREERBRADERE FRiBETE HA
ARIRRMEBAFEE-

TRERABZME BREENTARREERE TS
BERFERZFERBERGAMIERRM 6 -
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 27. RAKRBERIE

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$29,000 (2022:
HK$32,000), representing contributions payable to the
Scheme by the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March
2023.

REBERE CapERE ST EEH) AMEE
BEEREESMERBHEI AT MELE S S
([5H8]) B EEMEAEB EESRIFT AL
TREFDABEZES -BREE - A%EH (BX)
HEEBAHCKREEBRA(EER GaslHtR
B BRI ) 25% HEHEI/EH k- B £ 6
BEGAZHRE-_E—RENA—HERZ I
1,500 L AR ZHoMRBARMER  WEE
BRI AR IR R FE MR-

BHE—ZT-=F=A=1+—HLFERGEER
Ko Hfth 2 T Wz = HIBR 2 48 £ 5%29,0000%8 7T (=
T ZF 320008 L) RRAEERBE_Z
ZEF=A=T—BIEFEERF IS Z MK
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28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 28. ARBTEMBLAAZFHE

OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 and 2022

are as follows:

Name of subsidiary incorporation capital held by the Group Principal activities
rEERBERZ
W DR A o AR R 3 3t B BRITRAFE FrBERERRRELL A TEER
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-
Directly hold:
BEERER:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
SREMARAT BB TR 100% 100% #HEE
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
MBRERE AT BB TERIET 100% 100% #HEELIKREEK
Jetland Global Investments Ltd British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Islands US$1 each holding
REBRUEE il 100% 100% HEZER
BREE1ET
Baiye Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
RBRRHE Rl 100% 100% & ZERK
BREEIET

Place of

Particulars of
issued share

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

RZBE-_ZFFR-_FT——
W B AR FEIFESI T

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights

FZA=+—HZEE

ERAMARBAMB AR NEERREATZER
FREEEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &
ERR B EMMBARFEEBR TR

NSRS FEREAER RERNBARES

EARREEZEBES -
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29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 29. XA REzHMBER

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments H b FEURIE - B B R RS
and deposits 3,863 10,389
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE s /&8 1 R kB 190,453 195,628
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 2,231 1,394
196,547 207,411
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals EETER 2,800 3,347
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B R Rl FkIA 1,385 1,924
4,185 5,271
Net current assets RBEEFEE 192,362 202,140
Net assets EEFE 192,363 202,141
Capital and reserves EXRFE
Share capital [N 413 325
Reserves (Note) () 191,950 201,816
Total equity B 192,363 202,141

Signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee

RATIHALRERE:

FONG On Shek

RE= FRA
Director Director
- -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%',;'—: ’I%“ E\ZI' f['% $E %% MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—FT - =F=A=1+—HIFE
29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 29. AARIZMKER (&)
(continued)
Note: MiEt -
Movement in reserves during the year FAFBZED
Capital Share
Share reduction option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
&S
B 5 55 (B HURHE BRERE REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2021 R-—ZE-_—FMWABE—H 921,106 112,657 2,620 (849,834) 186,549
Loss and total comprehensive expense AN [E &8 & 2 M X 4%
for the year - - - (5,906) (5,906)
Issue of new shares under placing RIEBE BTG 15,940 - - - 15,940
Grant of share options 5 B s - - 5,233 - 5,233
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 AT _—F=A=+—H
NM—_ZFE-——FA—H 937,046 112,657 7,853 (855,740) 201,816
Loss and total comprehensive expense N4 [Z & 18 I 2 3 7 4458
for the year - - - (37,846) (37,846)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEEREREITRG
share options 9,706 — (2,619) - 7,087
Issue of shares under placing RIERE BTG 16,412 - - - 16,412
Grant of share options ¥ L R A - - 4,481 - 4,481

As at 31 March 2023 R=-ZE-=5=ZA=+—H 963,164 112,657 9,715 (893,586) 191,950
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Eal fﬁ E]j' ﬁ%jﬁ]— g For the year ended 31 March 2023 & E —Z -_=F=A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f -—T-— —E-—fF —T-TF —T-HEF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET THET TET THET
RESULTS EF
Revenue g 3,592 4,478 4,521 2,930 95
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEiAT (B1B) EF (41,152) (7,018) 3,569 (127,108) (87,251)
Income tax credit FeHER - - - 732 1,094
(Loss)/profit attributable to PA/NCIEZS DN
owners of the Company [Eh (E8R) /& (41,152) (7,018) 3,569 (126,376) (86,157)
(Loss)/earnings per share S (EE) /&BF
— Basic (HK cents) — A (F) (10.92) (2.27) 1.43 (5.60) (3.82)
At 31 March
W=B=+—~H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—BZz=§ —T-C —T-% T-THF _T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FExT FET FTAT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERER
Non-current assets FREBEE 23,834 25,261 49,504 50,411 62,035
Current assets MEBEE 180,661 200,457 153,752 141,580 253,968
Current liabilities mEEE (7,864)  (16,003) (7,750) (9,345) (6,981)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - - - - -
Total equity BEEHE 196,631 209,715 195,506 182,646 309,022




®

r [ 5 bl S A PR

China Investment and Finance Group Limite



	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACK COVER



